

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

School Social Workers and Perceived Barriers When Providing Services to LGBTQ Children

Jason Ray Bullard Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jason Ray Bullard

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Douglas Crews, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty Dr. Donna Bliss, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty Dr. Debora Rice, University Reviewer, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

School Social Workers and Perceived Barriers When Providing Services to LGBTQ Children

by

Jason Ray Bullard

MSW, Tulane University, 2013

BA, Butler University, 2012

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2020

Abstract

The proliferation of bias and prejudicial attitudes towards the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer or questioning (LGBTQ) community have been studied and empirically recognized throughout modern history. School social workers, as the schoolto-home mental health liaison, have a duty to protect and support vulnerable populations of students. Research supports the overarching need for specific support provision for young LGBTQ children as they often report not feeling safe or supported within educational settings, leading to an overall decreased sense of wellbeing. This study, based on critical race theory as well as normative theory and democracy, used qualitative semistructured interviews with six elementary and middle school social workers who worked in Southeast Louisiana school districts to determine what perceived barriers may preclude their ability to provide services to young LGBTQ students. Eight major barriers are discussed: (a) time; (b) lack of LGBTQ-specific education; (c) heteronormativity built into the school system; (d) administration, teacher, and parental barriers; (e) children's understanding and ability to express themselves; (f) policies and procedures; (g) geographic location barriers; and (h) religiosity and political barriers. Participants collectively voiced a concern with lack of education for all persons within the educational arena. Understanding the perceived barriers when attempting to provide mental-health services to young LGBTQ students is a step towards positive social change by coordinating efforts to recognize and respond to the unique needs of young LGBTQ children within the school setting and toward making the world a more equal and better place for all students.

School Social Workers and Perceived Barriers When Providing Services to LGBTQ

Children

Jason Ray Bullard

by

MSW, Tulane University, 2013 BA, Butler University, 2012

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2020

Dedication

This work is dedicated to the all of the young children who know that they feel differently from their peers but do not yet know how to seek support and guidance that is open and affirming. All of the countless numbers of young LGBTQ children who do not know who to turn to and find it difficult to go to school on a daily basis, you are the inspiration to my pursuit of higher academic attainment to continue to advance my ability to recognize, advocate for, and advance the field of social work to better meet your needs.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my committee chair, Dr. Douglas Crews, for his unyielding support, encouragement, guidance, and continuous positive feedback. This journey had its ups and downs, highs and lows, laughter and sorrow, and without you, I couldn't have made it to the finish line. Furthermore, I would like to thank my committee member Dr. Donna Bliss for all of your support, invaluable insight, and belief in me and my project. I would like to extend a special shout out to Dr. Debora Rice who made me believe I could accomplish anything and who always provided positive words of wisdom. Thank you to all of my professors and the School of Social Work at Walden University for all the amazing support and opportunities you have given me, and thank you to my participants, without whom I couldn't have completed this study. I appreciate your willingness to help me change the world.

Additionally, a special thanks goes to my mother, Starla, and my father, Jay, who always believed in me and always pushed me to achieve anything I wanted to achieve; without you, I would never be where I am today, and I hope I have made you proud. To Jude-Michael, thank you for always being there for me, making sure I know I am great, and for always keeping my eye on the prize. My dearest friends Rachel, Lindsey, and Brett, you always told me I have what it takes; thank you for believing in me even when I didn't believe in myself. Lastly, to my favorite rescue pit bulls in the whole world, Clio, Dolly, Captain Crunch, and Gypsy Girl, thank you for the many times you forced me to get up and go on a walk or pay attention to you and not my computer screen throughout this journey; without each of you, I would have never taken a break to enjoy my life.

Table of Contents

Sec	ction 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
	Problem Statement	4
	Purpose Statement and Research Question	9
	Definitions of Key Terms and Concepts	10
	Nature of the Doctoral Project	13
	Significance of the Study	14
	Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	15
	Critical Theory	16
	Normative Theory and Democracy	16
	Values and Ethics	17
	Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	19
	Literature Review Strategy	19
	Background of Heteronormativity	20
	Heteronormativity in U.S. Educational Institutions	21
	Developmental Considerations and Difficulties for LGBTQ Children	25
	Lack of Role Models and Invisibility in Classrooms, Lessons, and School	27
	Assumptions of Majority Identifying Students and Differences for	
	LGBTQ Students	28
	School Social Workers Meeting the Needs of This Vulnerable Population	31
	Summary	33
Sec	ction 2: Research Design and Data Collection	35

Research Design	35
Methodology	37
Data Collection	37
Participants	39
Participant Sampling	40
Instrumentation	42
Data Analysis	44
Ethical Procedures	48
Summary	50
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	52
Data Analysis Techniques.	53
Limitations	58
Findings	58
Themes	60
Theme 1: Social Work Education and Understandings of	
Heteronormativity	60
Theme 2: Heteronormativity and the School System	64
Theme 3: Beliefs and Values	70
Theme 4: Barriers	73
Theme 5: Positives and What Can Be Done	81
Unexpected Findings	87
Summary	92

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social

Change	94
Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	95
Recommendations for Social Work Practice	97
Usefulness of the Findings	101
Transferability of the Findings	102
Limitations of the Findings	102
Recommendations for Further Research	103
Dissemination of the Research	104
Implications for Social Change	105
Summary	107
References	
Annendix: Individual Interview Question Guide	129

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

The proliferation of bias and prejudicial attitudes towards the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer or questioning (LGBTQ) community have been studied and empirically recognized throughout modern history (Higa et al., 2014; The Human Rights Campaign, 2019; National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2019; Palmer & Greytak, 2017). Discrimination, hatred, marginalization, and oppression are seen in everyday subtle and overt ways within the modern U.S. school systems, which actively deny students' gender identity and sexual orientation expression (Atterberry-Ash, Speer, Kattari, & Kinney, 2019). Public schooling and education in the United States are tasked with the legal, ethical, and moral obligation to provide equal access to education and personal safety to every student in society (Moe, Bacon, & Leggett, 2015). Savage and Schanding (2013) revealed that these vulnerable children often do not feel safe within their school buildings due to microaggressions and anti-LGBTQ epithets, which are witnessed or heard 43% of the time from peers and 10% of the time from teachers and administrators. Research data have indicated an apparent strong message to LGBTQ children in school, and within the larger society, that they are "less than" their heterosexual CIS-gendered, gender-identity matching their biologically assigned-by-birth sex, peers (Allen, 2015; Hunter, 2019; Kulick, Wernick, Espinoza, Newman, & Dessel, 2019; Ullman & Ferfolja, 2015).

School social workers, identified as significant support figures on educational campuses, must to be able to address the needs of this vulnerable population (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018; Sherman, 2016). The pervasive negative factors, such as increased

risk to self-harm, increased susceptibility for suicidal ideation, increased associations with homelessness for the LGBTQ population, increased risk-taking behaviors, and decreased supportive services, contributing to disparities in the overall health and well-being of young LGBTQ members should be recognized and challenged within U.S. school-systems that are creating hostile, unsafe, harmful environments being recapitulated on a daily basis (Higa et al., 2014). The school social worker is an allied mental health provider hired by the school who is specially trained to work with vulnerable populations and multiculturally diverse groups of students (Pack & Brown, 2017).

Middle school and elementary school social workers are an underutilized asset to young LGBTQ students who need to be particularly knowledgeable about how they can enrich their developmental trajectories (Balsam, Beadnell, & Molina, 2013). The school social worker as an integral, specially positioned member of the school staff needs to be highly visible as an ally for this population to ensure that diversity exposure and acceptance is not only talked about but also entrenched in the culture of the school, home, and community where they are employed (Moe et al., 2015). The advancement of protective factors for LGBTQ children has shown to not only enhance the well-being of LGBTQ students but the entire population as a whole (Jones, 2016).

Gay-straight alliances (GSAs) have shown to be associated with positive youth development towards developing positive identity formation and through specific social support for young LGBTQ members as a way to feel safety in numbers, increased sense of identity and self-esteem, and increased support within the school system (Marx &

Kettrey, 2016; McCormick, Schmidt, & Clifton, 2015). The support provided from structured extracurriculars, such as GSAs, provide intentional integration of safety in the learning environment for all students, LGBTQ and non-LGBTQ (Ioverno, Belser, Baiocco, Grossman, & Russell, 2019; Marx & Kettrey, 2016; Poteat, Heck, Yoshikawa, & Calzo, 2017). These findings regarding GSAs show that there is a need for specific supports for young LGBTQ students within U.S. educational facilities; however, GSAs almost exclusively function within high schools, and rarely middle school climates, leaving little to no support for younger elementary and middle school students (McCormick et al., 2015; Sandowski, 2017).

Urban area schools, specifically, have been cited as having an advantage in the arena of understanding the complexities of working with marginalized students (Fredman, Schultz, & Hoffman, 2015). Due to urban-area schools being comprised of diverse groups of students with differing gender, race, ethnicity, ability, and class, they are often more equipped to expand their already unique ability to combat oppression to include sexual minority students (Fredman et al., 2015). Organizations that are actively working towards combatting negative harassment and oppression in the school system are useful in assisting marginalized children from a variety of intersectional identities.

In this study, I sought to research and disseminate information regarding how school social workers can effectively provide culturally competent and appropriate services for LGBTQ children within the heteronormative school system, specifically through examining the perceived barriers of school social workers employed in elementary and middle school settings to provide a context of mis- or non-understandings

that may be able to be addressed by the social work community. Due to the aforementioned lack of programming for LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings and the presumed possible protective factor of being enrolled in an urban, diverse school environment, this qualitative study addressed elementary and middle school social workers' ability to provide services to support young LGBTQ children in a southeast Louisiana school district.

In Section 1, I introduce the qualitative, individual interview study designed to explore the perceived barriers school social workers face when providing culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in southeast Louisiana. Section 1 addresses the problem, the study's purpose, the research question, significance, and the theoretical framework. I further introduce background context for the study, nature of the study, data types and sources of information, limitations, challenges, and barriers of the study.

Problem Statement

Elementary and middle school-aged LGBTQ students are provided with little to no services that recognize, support, advocate for, and provide open acceptance for their gender identities or sexual orientations due to the overall heteronormative stance of society in the United States (Ryan & Hermann-Wilmarth, 2018). This heteronormative custom, which is embedded into the pedagogical policies and procedures of educational facilities in the United States, regards heterosexuality as the norm and as the only acceptable form of relationships (Wagaman, Obejero, & Gregory, 2018). LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school are two to five times more likely to experience

a mental health condition such as depression, anxiety, and thoughts of suicide due to this discrimination (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2019).

Social workers are prepared through their educational advancement within accredited institutions to work within the multicultural world (Drechsler, Hessenauer, & Jaber-Wilson, 2020; Small, Nikolova, & Sharma, 2017). Licensed school social workers, then, are educated to have understanding and ability to provide services that are appropriate and meet the multicultural needs of a variety of diverse identities, including LGBTQ individuals, in culturally competent ways (Jani, Osteen, & Shipe, 2016; Robinson, Cross-Denny, Lee, Werkmeister Rozas, & Yamada, 2016). Systematic issues within school systems in the United States create obstacles that can prevent school social workers from providing these services to young LGBTQ children in overt and covert ways (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Kosciw, Palmer, & Kull, 2015; Kvam, 2018; Robinson et al., 2016; Rosenblum & Travis, 2016).

Within elementary and middle school settings, there is resistance paired with outdated policies that preclude the ability for educators and school employees to appropriately integrate LGBTQ-positive education through lessons and teacher professional developments (Wright-Maley, Davis, Gonzalez, & Colwell, 2016). Ullman and Ferfolja (2015) specifically discussed outdated and pathologizing policies in educational settings within the United States, pointing out that schools often create policies that are delineated for boys and girls, which further enforces a gender-binary outlook on how children are educated. Gender-binary enforcement, in this context, is the qualification that each person has to identify as either being a boy or a girl, which leaves

no room for sexual or gender diversity (Ullman & Ferfolja, 2015). Gender-binary enforcement in educational facilities, such as gender-specific uniform policies and jewelry policies, continue to ensure that cis-gender, heterosexual values are pronounced and facilitate the erasure of LGBTQ topics from the classroom (Kearns, Mitton-Kükner, & Tompkins, 2017; Wagner & Crowley, 2020). Students experience microaggressions due to nonconformance to the steadfast intuitional adherence to gender binary outlooks and heteronormativity indoctrinated from the top, administration, down to the students (Austin, Craig, Dentato, Roseman, & McInroy, 2019; Miller & Grollman, 2015).

These microaggressions are subtle, everyday slights aimed at LGBTQ children that perpetuate stigmas and contribute to the negative view of these vulnerable students. Teachers may inadvertently display microaggression towards a young LGBTQ child by insinuating that girls play with dolls and boys play with trucks, that boys do not cry, or that every family consists of a mother and a father figure (Francis & Reygan, 2016). Completely avoiding the recognition of LGBTQ topics and not being able to openly talk about LGBTQ issues (overt) paired with not being able to train staff on LGBTQ issues and daily enforcement through microaggressions (covert) creates an atmosphere that is not aligned with the school social worker's duty to protect all students and commitment to provide equal access to education without oppression in the elementary and middle school setting (Austin et al., 2019).

Providing culturally competent services to young LGBTQ students include the ability to ensure feelings of safety and support within the school community (Palmer & Greytak, 2017). Feeling safe and supported in ones' school provides conditions that allow

the elementary or middle school student to feel secure in "coming out," which includes the ability to disclose one's sexual orientation, also referred to as "affectional orientation," or gender identity, which has shown to be a mitigating protective factor for LGBTQ children (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Kosciw et al., 2015). Students who are in a school that has specific support for the unique needs of LGBTQ students, representation of LGBTQ persons, and knowledgeable professionals regarding the needs of this population can foster the resilience of "being out" in the educational environment, which leads to higher academic success and overall improved psychological and health well-being (Kosciw et al., 2015).

The problem is that although social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there are systematic issues that thwart their ability to provide school social work services that adequately meet the specific support needs of young LGBTQ children, especially within the elementary and middle school setting (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Garbers, Heck, Gold, Santelli, & Bersamin, 2018). The ramifications of these systematic obstacles for young LGBTQ children include higher rates of suicide, increased peer victimization, homelessness by choice to avoid negative situations or forced by parents throwing them out of their house, substance abuse, and increased risk-taking behaviors such as riskier sexual practices (Palmer & Greytak, 2017). This study addresses a gap in practice by examining what perceived barriers are present that are limiting the multiculturally-trained school social worker from providing LGBTQ-specific services to young elementary and middle school students in an effort to change the system to best support these young LGBTQ children.

For example, heteronormativity is the indoctrinated belief that regulates who is allowed to live a "normal" inconspicuous social life, and whose lives will be regulated by everyday behaviors, messages, and laws (Rosenblum & Travis, 2016). Heteronormativity is reflected in the belief that individuals are identified either as male or female, and these two genders must both be represented in order to equate to roles in a relationship that are reliant on one another (Lasio, Serri, Ibba, & Manuel De Oliveira, 2019). As microcosms of broader society, schools perpetuate and enforce the values, views, and prejudices of the larger heteronormative societal stance (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Kvam, 2018; Savage & Schanding, 2013). Within school systems, this is exampled by the overt enforcement of gender and sexuality representation in classroom curriculum, content of educational materials, and student restrooms designations, as well as the covert erasure of LGBTQ lives in the classroom lesson content (Dinkins & Englert, 2015; Hoang, 2019; Ingraham, 1994; McBride & Schubotz, 2017).

The multiple ways that the system either covertly or overtly misaligns with the school social worker's ability to provide services to this specific population should be examined as Moe et al. (2015) affirmed the need for school mental health providers to be specific, visible allies to this young population of LGBTQ students on all educational campuses. While the correlation between heteronormative society and adverse risk factors on the health, mental health, and well-being of LGBTQ children has been addressed abundantly in research, the perceived barriers of school social workers in attempting to provide culturally competent services to young LGBTQ students was examined in this study, as there is empirical evidence postulating that sexual minority

children have increased risk factors due to lack of school connectedness and that supportive relationships can mitigate these adverse outcomes within the school setting (see Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Hoang, 2019; Joyce, 2015). As the school-to-home liaison, the school social worker is tasked with ensuring and advocating for all students to remove any barriers, perceived or actual, that may be precluding them from accessing education equal to their peers (Sherman, 2016). This study further expands the knowledge base for school social work practice by investigating the perceived barriers that school social workers encounter when attempting to provide culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children within the current educational system in a southeast Louisiana school district (see Atterberry-Ash et al., 2019; Van Den Bergh & Crisp, 2004). Determining the perceived barriers via the viewpoint of the school social workers when attempting to provide services to this especially vulnerable group of children is paramount to improving the safety needs of young LGBTQ children.

Purpose Statement and Research Question

The purpose of this qualitative inquiry was to explore the perceived barriers school social workers encounter when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. Specifically, while social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there seems to be an underresearched gap in how this is aligned or misaligned with the viewpoint of the educational system that hinders their ability to fully meet the needs of this young LGBTQ population (Garbers et al., 2018). School social workers are on the frontlines, pioneering connections, supporting, providing guidance, providing resources, and advocating for

students within their educational settings (Isaksson & Larsson, 2017; Sherman, 2016). School social workers, as the school-based mental health professionals, are tasked with ensuring the safety, health, and wellbeing of all students by ensuring the entire school atmosphere is safe, especially for minority children (Abreu, Black, Mosley, & Fedewa, 2016; NASW, 2017). This study was designed to support the needs of school social workers by exploring what perceived barriers may be precluding them from being able to provide appropriate services to this especially vulnerable population of children and how to best support systematic changes that can best meet the needs of young LGBTQ students in elementary and middle school settings.

The research question is as follows:

What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings in a southeast Louisiana school district?

Definitions of Key Terms and Concepts

The literature uses a multitude of terms, abbreviations, and definitions when describing the LGBTQ populations. Interchangeable and increasingly shifting to include and not include other members of society, the umbrella terms GLB, LGBT, LGBTQ, LGBTQIA, and LGBTQ+ have been used throughout located scholarly sources in the past 5-year search. For the purposes of this study, I have chosen to use the acronym LGBTQ (lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning) as the umbrella term used to represent the population of individual and communities being discussed although it should be recognized that this does not fully represent the multitude of individuals,

communities, and persons who may identify as part of this community. As language and inclusivity continues to broaden and sometimes become more specific, throughout the years, this chosen acronym has been merely used to be concise and consistent for the purposes of this study and not to inadvertently disenfranchise further or exclude any members of the community who do not identify with the specific acronym chosen.

Affectional orientation: A synonym for "sexual orientation" that displays that not all members of society are oriented by sex or sexuality (Parker, Dickens, & Herlihy, 2019).

Barriers: Social workers typically work as part of a multidisciplinary team and not in isolation; this is no different for school social workers. Barriers are any identified sources that impede the ability of the social worker to carry out their mental health professional roles in their respective field, which can provide implications for and understanding of the important necessities the social worker may feel they need to conduct their job professionally, ethically, and to the benefit of their respective clients (Ambrose-Miller & Ashcroft, 2016). It is important to note, for the purposes of this study, barriers can be real or perceived by the individual social worker.

Cisgender: Individual whose sex assigned at birth is in alignment with their internal and/or external presentation of gender (Austin et al., 2019; Knutson, Koch, Sneed, Lee, & Chung, 2020).

Coming out: A nonlinear process in which a self-identified individual discloses their gender identity or sexual orientation to family, peer, or community (Ali & Barden, 2015; Fields et al., 2015). Coming out has been recently renegotiated to a cyclical pattern

comprised of an LGBTQ individual having to continually disclose their identity over and over throughout their lifetime in multiple contexts (Ali & Barden, 2015). Coming out has been associated with both positive and negative effects on health, mental health, and well-being (Belous, Wampler, & Warmels-Herring, 2015).

Cultural competence: A fundamental attribute of the social work profession. Social workers who work with diverse groups of marginalized individuals, who historically were defined as populations that were non-White, have now come to include many different intersectional identities of sexuality, gender identity, religion, ability, and sexual orientation (Abrams & Moio, 2009). Cultural competence specifically examines and mandates that social workers work with individuals and systems in a respectful, ethical, and effective manner, regardless of their marginalized identities, to best provide support and transformation on the behalf of the clients for whom they provide services (NASW, 2015, 2017).

Heteronormativity: The privileged default of human sexual identity and presumption of heterosexuality that is engrained in every aspect of society that is scaffolded by the laws, customs, norms, policies, and practices of the group of individuals, which actively, in overt or subtle ways, recapitulates the degradation, denigration, oppression, marginalization, and erasure of nonheterosexual individuals (Allen, 2015).

LGBTQ: Umbrella term or acronym specifically selected for this study to succinctly represent the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning community of individuals.

Microaggression: Short, everyday slights that are aimed at minority members of society that perpetuate stigma, stereotypes, harassment, and oppression of individuals that are not of the majority, which contribute to negative mental health and wellbeing of the intended victims (Bialer & McIntosh, 2016).

Semistructured interview: Semistructured qualitative interviews are a purposeful conversation that uses a predetermined set of questions arranged in an interview guide, based on previous knowledge gathered by the researcher, with improvised use of follow-up probes as needed to cover the main topics of the study (Kallio, Pietlä, Johnson, & Kangasneimi, 2016).

Nature of the Doctoral Project

To explore and better understand the perceived barriers school social workers face when attempting to provide culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children, I used a qualitative inquiry design by way of a constructivist approach that seeks to interview, collect, interpret, analyze, and construct how the social workers understand their realities within the school environment (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Exploring the phenomenon of perceived barriers within the educational system and provision of specific services to LGBTQ children was achieved through individual, semistructured interviews with school social workers who are currently providing services to students in elementary and middle school settings in a southeast Louisiana school district (see Babbie, 2017). These social workers' experiences are unique to their individual practices, and I sought to explore their perceived barriers through data obtained within individual

semistructured interviews with a purposefully sampled homogenous groups of school social workers (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Significance of the Study

High schools that emphasize GSA and sexual orientation or gender expression actively identified LGBTQ-specific supports as part of their antibullying or antidiscrimination initiatives (Craig, McInroy, & Austin, 2018; Wright, Roach, & Yukins, 2012). Existing school-based mental health services and school supports for LGBTQ students have been documented as inadequate and underrecognized beyond GSA clubs in the high school setting; however, support for elementary and middle school children is almost nonexistent due to the current state of system within U.S. educational facilities (Craig et al., 2018; Sandowski, 2017). The results of this study provide insight into the current practice gap in understanding what perceived barriers to culturally competent school social work services may be being inhibited by the system that creates an atmosphere that does not allow them to appropriately implement knowledge, advocate for, and acknowledge, with sensitivity, this vulnerable population of young LGBTQ children within elementary and middle school campuses.

The Human Rights Campaign (2019) reported that 42% of LGBTQ children feel their community is not accepting of LGBTQ people, and 92% of the nation's youth say they hear negative messages about being LGBTQ, most significantly in their schools, on the internet, and from elected leaders. Further, Kosciw, Greytak, Bartkiewicz, Boesen, and Palmer (2012) posited that 86% of students reported being verbally harassed, 38% reported being physically harassed, and 18% reported being physically assaulted due to

their real or perceived sexual orientation. School social workers, as the school-to-home mental health liaisons, have a professional ethical responsibility to protect and support vulnerable populations of students (NASW, 2017). Research supports the overarching need for elementary and middle school social workers to be able to provide appropriate and culturally competent services to the young LGBTQ child population (Birkett, Newcomb, & Mustanski, 2015; Gegenfutner & Gebhardt, 2017; Kull, Greytak, Kosciw, & Villenas, 2016; Moe et al., 2015). However, systematic issues hinder the school social worker's ability to meet their needs, which results in higher risk of suicide, bullying, harassment, early and problematic drug and alcohol usage, and risky sexual practices (Birkett et al., 2015; Kull et al., 2016).

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The current study was based on critical theory, which is rooted in the rejection of the status quo and the need to promote the emancipation of those who lack power in society (Cheng, 2005; Habermas, 1984; Horkheimer, 1972; Stahl, Doherty, Shaw, & Janicke, 2014). Due to the overall heteronormative influence of U.S. society, which is embedded into the pedagogical policies and procedures of elementary and middle schools, students are provided with little to no services that recognize, support, advocate for, and provide open acceptance to their gender identities or sexual orientations (Wagaman et al., 2018). Understanding the perceived barriers to providing culturally competent mental-health services to young LGBTQ students is the first step in coordinating efforts to recognize and respond to the unique needs of young LGBTQ

children within the school setting towards making the world a more equal and better place for all (Urban & Kujinga, 2017).

Critical Theory

Critical theory is defined by the view that human beings need to be emancipated from the slaveries, oppression, marginalization, and disenfranchisement created by their society and culture due to the individual's minority status-identity (Horkheimer, 1972). The critical theory posits that there are multiple realities in society and that these realities are influenced by the oppressions of the context in which the reality was created (Horkheimer, 1993). Critical theory explains that knowledge, and language of that knowledge, is created by those who have power, and that this knowledge does not represent the experiences of the marginalized and oppressed individuals who lack power (Habermas, 1984). From this viewpoint, emancipation and liberation are achieved through creation of a world that does not decrease the freedoms of any one of the members of society, regardless of identity statuses (Horkheimer, 1972, 1993).

Normative Theory and Democracy

Democracy is dependent on consensus; however, democratic beliefs are founded on the explicit violation of freedoms of minority status individuals (Przeworki & Wallerstein, 1988). The deliberate exclusion of minority individuals maintains and recapitulates the monopoly of power that is maintained by the majority, which then becomes publicly agreed upon and enforced to continue to marginalize and disenfranchise the minority (Bohman, 1991, 1997). Critical theory disassembles this by first starting with those who have power, for example, school social workers in this study,

to create an educational environment that satisfies the needs of all students and not just the majority members of society through emancipation and liberation (see Bohman, 1999; Horkheimer, 1972). Through qualitative research, I sought to delineate a subjective look at the school social workers' perspectives of perceived barriers to culturally competent service provisions for young LGBTQ children through a politically charged lens of empowerment, emancipation, and liberation. To overcome the created sense of totality and recognize the voiceless members of society's needs and promote equality I sought to gain a greater understanding of the current societal norms and context that enforces the disenfranchisement of young LGBTQ children within the educational arena.

Values and Ethics

This qualitative, semistructured, individual interview study is aligned with the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics (2017) and the supplemental guide provided through the NASW Standards and Indicators for Cultural Competence in Social Work Practice (NASW, 2015). The NASW Code of Ethics enforces that social workers can only provide ethical services if they value the dignity and worth of every individual they serve by meeting the cultural and ethnic diversity of needs they possess in a competent manner. Specifically, "social workers should promote conditions that encourage respect for cultural and social diversity within the United States and globally" (NASW, 2015, p.15).

Examining school social workers' perceived barriers while attempting to provide specific services to meet the needs of young LGBTQ children in a southeast Louisiana school district ties into the NASW Code of Ethics mission to ensure that equality and

social justice advocacy is provided to these extremely vulnerable young people in society (NASW, 2017). By understanding the perceived barriers with this specific population, this study further disseminates information as part of an overall strategy to promote positive social change and ensure better support for all children in school systems, regardless of gender identity or sexual orientation, meeting the NASW value of advancing the field of social work through scholarly research (NASW, 2017). Positive social change is the purposeful process of coordinating efforts to promote greater equality, dignity, and enhancement of life for those who are disadvantaged by society (Thomas, McGarty, & Mavor, 2009; Walden University, 2015, 2017). Results of this study contribute to the betterment of society through a greater understanding of the perceived barriers that may be precluding school social workers in elementary and middle schools from being able to adequately provide services to young LGBTQ members to create systematic changes to better support these vulnerable children.

Because school social workers are tasked with ensuring the mental health and wellbeing of students daily, understanding the perceived barriers of these social workers in providing specific services to young LGBTQ members is imperative to improving their ability to service this vulnerable population of children. Understanding the perceived barriers is the first step in coordinating efforts to recognize and respond to the unique needs of young LGBTQ students within the school setting towards making the world a more equal and better place for all (Urban & Kujinga, 2017). Creating safe and supportive environments for all children, regardless of "affectional orientation" or gender expression and free from bias, prejudice, and marginalization aligns not only with the

Walden University (2017) mission of social change but also with the NASW (2017) Code of Ethics. This study pioneers a greater understanding of how to support school social workers in providing culturally competent services for young LGBTQ students to enhance their ability to create safer school environments for all students.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Literature Review Strategy

Articles selected relate to school social workers' provision of culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children. Through searches in the Walden University Library system, search engines were used to find pertinent articles from the last 5-year range through ERIC, SAGE Knowledge, SAGE Journals, and the Thoreau multidatabase search. Searches beyond the current literature within the last 5 years were conducted to locate and situate historical understandings and background information to gain a greater insight into the concepts of heteronormativity within the United States and Western world, as well as to glean important seminal work regarding theoretical foundations.

The key words searched were *LGBTQ*, *critical theory*, *children*, *school social workers*, *heteronormative*, *mental-health*, *U.S. education*, *barriers*, *social work ethics*, *LGB*, *LGBTQIA*, *LGBTQ*+, and *school* in the aforementioned databases. Results yielded approximately 3,000 articles, with approximately 80 within the scholarly period selected for this literature search. There is a dearth of literature related to school social workers, and social workers in general, in the provision of services for the LGBTQ population of young people in the United States. Craig, Dentato, Messinger, and McInroy (2016) posited that social workers provide more mental health services to all groups of

disadvantaged individuals than any other allied health profession, so then it stands to reason that they should be especially equipped to work with this specific population of LGBTQ children more than other school-based mental health professionals.

Specifically, the existence of specific services with the LGBTQ population are scarce in the literature, as exampled by the NASW (2015) Standards and Indicators for Cultural Competence in Social Work Practice, which merely cited LGBTQ populations as a special diverse community to consider in one instance in the 60-page document. The NASW (2017) Code of Ethics also described the need for social work professionals to provide culturally competent mental health services; however, both of these guiding documents for the profession do not mention specific attitudes, knowledge, or skills needed to be provide ethical and appropriate services to this community. Due to the apparent lack of research specific to young LGBTQ children, and school social workers' provision of culturally competent services to this especially vulnerable group of young people, sources were located regarding social work practitioner's preparedness to work with LGBTQ members, high school populations, and LGBTQ adults to provide a parallel process to work off of for this study.

Background of Heteronormativity

Heteronormativity is comprised of the cultural and societal norms within the United States that creates a system of oppression that maintains the privileged default and presumption of human sexual identity of heterosexuality (Weinstock, 2019). The concept of heteronormativity cuts through every aspect of modern society, which justifies harassment and discrimination of non-LGBTQ individuals (Michaels, Parent, & Torrey,

2016). Heteronormativity has a specific connection with critical theory as the emancipatory need is seen in microaggressions, or short everyday verbal, behavioral, and environmental slights towards minority nonheterosexual people, which continues to disempower and oppresses people who are not heterosexual, enforced by dominant heterosexual masculinity (Fields et al., 2015).

Family, peer, and community assumptions of heteronormative masculinity impose the prevalence of heteronormativity, leading to internalized homophobia in heterosexual and nonheterosexual individuals. Internalized homophobia results in cognitive dissonance, increased rates of suicidal ideation, and rates of suicidal attempts for LGBTQ people (Allen, 2015; Michaels et al., 2016). The concept of heteronormativity showcases the need to identify and examine privileging beliefs within communities and challenge, not just accept, their normalcy that perpetuates stigma and oppression of others.

Antioppressive and emancipatory perspectives, according to Pack and Brown (2017), are the cornerstone of social work. Within all environments, organizations, establishments, and agencies, these perspectives are employed to address and advocate for groups who exert power over another through institutionalized means.

Heteronormativity in U.S. Educational Institutions

As previously discussed, heteronormativity plagues almost every institution in the United States (Ingraham, 1994; Weinstock, 2019). Discrimination and discriminatory practices towards young LGBTQ children within U.S. educational facilities are largely uninterrupted by staff, other students, parents, and community members (Atterberry-Ash et al., 2019). Social stigmatization is prevalent throughout U.S. culture and is at the

foundation of almost every law, policy, and practice, which indoctrinates the beliefs of young people taught in these facilities. Hoang (2019) further posited that children reared in a heteronormative society are shown, read about, and learn about the presumption of heterosexuality from a young age. These teachings and images that surround the culture then leave little to no room for young people to imagine any alternate reality, leading to a cognitive dissonance or internalized struggle when they do not see their lives being validated (Hoang, 2019).

Insufficient support in the school system creates a breeding ground for harassment, violence, isolation, and exclusion that is seen as normalized and warranted to maintain the status quo, heterosexuality, and erase the difference, nonheterosexuality (Ingraham, 1994). This belief that only biologically assigned opposite sexes can be attracted to one another creates the human norm that anything else is deviant, unnatural, sinful, immoral, weird, not appropriate, and wrong (Fredman et al., 2015; Suen et al., 2020). Advantages are afforded to those who conform (Hoang, 2019; Ingraham, 1994; McBride & Schubotz, 2017). Children who do not conform to the heterosexual norms and concepts are not represented, not protected, and not visible within the indoctrinated heteronormativity and conservative Christian value cornerstones of the modern United States educational institution (Kulick et al., 2019; McBride & Schubotz, 2017).

Disadvantages, bullying, school refusal, and academic failure are just a few negative impacts on LGBTQ children's inequality to receive access to education (Dessel, Kulick, Wernick, & Sullivan, 2017).

LGBTO bullying and discrimination in U.S. educational institutions. Bullying is a serious issue in modern education. Bullying towards children who identify as part of the LGBTQ community or who are perceived to be part of the LGBTQ community is a biproduct of the heteronormative gender norms that police sexuality and sexual identity (Kulick et al., 2019). Kull et al. (2016) empirically demonstrated school districts' need to develop policies that reflect the needs of LGBTQ student populations to be able to adequately provide safe learning environments free of the fear of harassment in which they can access education equal to their heterosexual peers. School districts with antibullying policies that explicitly mention sexual orientation, gender identity, and/or gender expression protections were the most effective as LGBTQ students report feeling increased safety and less homophobia or heteronormativity; however, the majority of educational facilities in the United States fail to mention LGBTQ issues at all or simply add LGBTQ concerns to the already created policies as an afterthought (Kull et al., 2016; Robinson & Espelage, 2012). Papadaki (2016) posited that the lack of sexual orientation issues that are included in educational facilities antibullying and other policies is a further representation of heteronormativity that is embedded into the pedagogical environment.

Increased suicidal ideation and decreased overall wellbeing. School districts not only permit but perpetuate indoctrinated gender binary, heteronormative Christian values (McBride & Schubotz, 2017). School lessons, textbooks, images, and ideas do not permit the idea of "normal" nonheterosexual individuals in society (Allen, 2015). Instead, schools provide uniform policies, gendered sports, haircut and jewelry policies, bathroom and locker room allocation, and disciplinary policies that actively seek to disconfirm and

erase the existence of LGBTQ communities (Kulick et al., 2019; McBride & Schubotz, 2017; Snapp, Hoenig, Fields, & Russell, 2015). The lack of gender identity development and sexual orientation understanding from school staff and officials leads to a complete denigration of LGBTQ students' self-identity, self-esteem, support, and safety.

Atterberry-Ash et al. (2019) suggested that microaggressions and harmful discord are often most numerously identified as bullying towards LGBTQ children, and more often than not, these types of degrading remarks and perpetuations of harmful heteronormativity go unchecked or unnoticed by adults. Seelman, Forge, Walls, and Bridges (2015) asserted that schools are the key environment in which children are ridiculed, harassed, and victimized for young LGBTQ identities. One example, from Porta et al. (2017), lies in the issue of gendered bathrooms and locker rooms, which they found to be a commonplace of anxiety and isolation for the student respondents based on fears of being uncomfortable, being harmed, and being judged. These findings, paired with Kulick et al.'s (2019) research, revealed that school-based sports and physical education play a specific role in the negative impacts on young LGBTQ children. The adverse impacts create an atmosphere of emotional distress, school avoidance, substance use, and overall negative wellbeing for LGBTQ students due to unequal acceptance and access to normal activities in the school arena that is not true for their heterosexual counterparts.

Without specific inclusion of sexual orientation, gender identity, and/or gender expression protections explicitly mentioned as part of school-wide policies, which are typically skimmed over and not forthcoming with explicit mention of LGBTQ-related

issues, the school's atmosphere, which is already a hostile atmosphere of heteronormativity, is further compounded (Kull et al., 2016). Without specific protection, young LGBTQ children are bullied and victimized at higher rates than their heterosexual peers, which results in increased suicidal ideation, increased suicide attempts, internalized discord, depression, shame, anger, fear, vulnerability, depression, grief, avoidance of school and other environments, isolation, increased risky sexual activity, and increased drug and substance usage (Ali & Barden, 2015; McCormick et al., 2015).

Developmental Considerations and Difficulties for LGBTQ Children

Development of sexuality or gender identity is a challenge for young LGBTQ children without specific supports due to the overarching heteronormativity and homophobia indoctrinated into institutions (Seelman et al., 2015). Social development is hijacked by identification as part of the LGBTQ community due to fear, isolation, and emotional distress that interrupts positive psychological and emotional wellbeing (Kulick et al., 2019). Identification of being nonheterosexual is typically left up to the individual, and the conversation has to start with the child feeling confident and comfortable to openly discuss this with their parents, friends, teachers, and community (Olson et al., 2019). Internalized conflict due to religiosity, confusion, and internalized homogeneity cloud the ability for young LGBTQ children to positively cope with their feelings and identification (Lytle, Blosnich, De Luca, & Brownson, 2018).

Kohlberg (1966) discussed, in his Theory of Gender Development, that children already identify whether they are male or female around three to five years of age. Ages six to seven encompass children's ability to delineate differences in behavioral and

personality patterns of males and females (Kohlberg, 1966). These gender roles are fairly concrete, and almost nonnegotiable in society. Gender roles explicitly direct how society determines a person is to act, think, desire, behave, and react (Kohlberg, 1966). Further, because gender norms vary from society to society, culture to culture, these concepts are taught to children, from birth, and constructs how they will be expected to get along in society for the remainder of their lives. Children's own self-concepts, at a young age, will affect how their interpersonal relationships will be throughout their lifespan; thus, being different than others at a young age can thwart a child's ability to connect and maintain interpersonal relationships for the remainder of their lives (Beal, 1994; Seelman et al., 2015).

As children meet developmental milestones, in school, they are increasingly moving towards independence and being prepared to be successful in life as positive members of their community. As such children are being taught how to, when to, and where to look for right and wrong. Children learn at first, to rely on adults for guidance and reassurance (Piaget, 1952; Postholm, 2019). Children, typically enjoy socializing and learn to form larger friendship groups and work cooperatively with others and learn social skills through play, school work, and class lessons throughout the school environment (Huyder, Nilsen, & Bacso, 2015). Development of an internalized, mature sense of right and wrong is developed around age ten and children become increasingly able to think abstractly moving from elementary to middle school-age (Huyder et al., 2015). This development of self, and identity are vastly different for heterosexual and nonheterosexual children; yet, we teach everyone the same way, regardless of gender or

sexual identity, and expect all children will develop towards a healthy, and well-adjusted sense of self (Klein, Holtby, Cook, & Travers, 2015).

Lack of Role Models and Invisibility in Classrooms, Lessons, and School

Student-school engagement is one specific protective factor that can predict outcomes into adulthood for young LGBTQ members (Seelman et al., 2015). Yet, without specific supportive adults in this vulnerable setting, development, happiness, and wellbeing are thwarted (Graybill & Proctor, 2016). Atterberry-Ash et al. (2019) discuss LGBTQ-issues being explicitly absent in classroom materials and underrepresented throughout educational facilities, in general. Meyer, Quantz, Taylor, and Peter's (2019) research highlighted this notion in their findings that teachers, overtly express a desire to integrate diversity components into their lesson plans; however, a lack of education and competence in LGBTQ issues has been cited as a precluding factor to successfully employ heteronormative-less educational practices. From their large-scale survey, Meyer et al. (2019) found that approximately 85% of teachers stated they would support policies for LGBTQ inclusive practices school-wide; however, only 61% of teachers reported practicing these inclusive themes in their lessons. A lack of understanding; worries about parental, and administrative push back; and lack of confidence seems to be preventing teachers from feeling comfort in mentioning, showcasing, or including LGBTQ-issues at the forefront of their lessons, teaching materials, or diversity-celebrating displays on school campuses, which further makes LGBTQ children feel invisible, or like they do not belong.

Belous et al. (2015) discussed the lack of role models for older adolescent and adult persons who embark on the coming out process, which leads to an adherence to stereotypes of a heteronormative society and a lack of developing a true, authentic self. According to this research, adolescents and adult gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, queer and questioning individuals typically take longer to adjust to their own identity as they cited that they typically adhere to the strict stereotypical behaviors, that can be located in media, to strive to live as part of the community and do not understand fully who they are or what they want to be (Belous et al., 2015). The lack of role models, and representation of LGBTQ individuals as just "normal," inconspicuous members of society can lead to a polarizing, confusing, and more isolated feelings in regard to self-idea and self-worth (Allen, 2015). Thus, it stands to reason, that if an adult member of the LGBTQ community has exaggerated difficulty developing their own identity during the coming out process, a young child at the precipice of understanding their LGBTQ-identity might have even more challenges.

Assumptions of Majority Identifying Students and Differences for LGBTQ Students

Thus far, it has been discussed, at length, that heterosexuality is the presumption for all individuals in U.S. society and any deviation to this normative belief can cause fear, anxiety, stress, isolation, and overall negative physical, mental, and emotional health and wellbeing. The assumption, is that, all children are able to attend school in a safe environment, in which they are able to learn social norms, develop friendships, adjust to expectations, learn how to effectively communicate with others, learn how to cope with adversity, and develop into positive, contributing adults in society (Graybill & Proctor,

2016). These assumptions are easier if an individual identifies as part of the majority; however, if deviating in any way, for the purposes of this paper, nonheterosexual identification, this trajectory is hijacked and success is not the focus of an individual who is trying to survive and thrive in the face of adversity.

Klein et al. (2015) posit that the coming out process is much more important, in respect to development, than previously discussed in the literary lineage. Bialer and McIntosh (2016) report that LGBTQ adults name coming out as the single most stressful experience in their lives. The process of coming out is not linear, in that it is a recapitulating cycle in an LGBTQ person's life from the time they decide to disclose their sexual or gender identity the first time until the reset of their lives (Ali & Barden, 2015; Klein et al., 2015). The cycle of coming out is never complete, as new environments, new locations, and new groups of people present feelings of stress and threat that stigmatization and marginalization will accompany disclosure and opportunity to either be one's authentic self or hide part of their identity from others. The internal discord and cognitive dissonance felt when deciding if disclosure is necessary, warranted, or desired in each new situation bring back the same feelings for the LGBTQ individual as the first time they disclosed and can be retraumatizing (Ali & Barden, 2015; McIntyre, Baker, & Overstreet, 2019)

Snapp et al. (2015) discussed the inequalities and disparities felt at school, due to the assumption of heterosexuality, include more severe punishments for LGBTQ students for public displays of affection, choice of expression, and nonconformity to gender expectations that are held constant for all children, regardless of gender or sexual

orientation. LGBTQ students, are an especially vulnerable population that deserves special policy provision as they typically grow up in heterosexual-parent homes and become further isolated from their families, as opposed to other minority students who grow up in a house with one or more parent that is similarly disadvantaged (Wright et al., 2012). Belous et al., (2015) cited approximately three to four percent of individuals in the U.S. identify themselves as part of the LGBTQ population, yet culturally competent services for this population are scarce, and not detailed for any mental health profession. Being part of a subset of the majority culture presents challenges for LGBTQ individuals, and adults discussed the loss of their identity in the coming out process and need to understand and adapt to a new LGBTQ culture that is not something that has to be considered or processed by heterosexual peers (Belous et al., 2015).

Porta et al. (2017) further examined the invisible discomfort felt daily by LGBTQ children when having to use the restroom. Heterosexual individuals do not have to choose, as the choice is already made for them, which restroom will be safe for them to use, and which restroom will cause them the least amount of fear of victimization. The common resulting option, in modern day, that has come to fruition in schools is to have an assigned gender-neutral restroom for transgender students; however, these restrooms are typically located in the nurse's office or teacher's lounge, which further leads to isolation and pointing out the student as different from heterosexual, CIS-gendered peers (Porta et al., 2017). Left out of this equation is nonheterosexual, nontransgendered LGBTQ children, who similarly face ridicule and harassment in gender-assigned restrooms and need (Hoang, 2019). These unsafe and threatening environments are

prevalent across school environments that are underrecognized, and or taken for granted by heterosexual peers, adults, and community members, thus the need for specific supportive adults on school campuses that can advocate for and meet the needs of vulnerable populations of children on a daily basis.

School Social Workers Meeting the Needs of This Vulnerable Population

Marrow (1993) delineates the evolution of the term "homosexuality" and shows how a negative connotation is now likened to it, providing a societal nonacceptance of this pejorative term that proves to be a source of discrimination for this group of persons. Social workers are needed to provide a visible front of support for all minority students within schools. School social workers need to promote a safe and neutral space, along with a willingness and ability to talk with children openly and freely about sexual orientation (NASW, 2017; Pack & Brown, 2017). Social workers need to keep abreast to the ever-changing population-based needs of the modern student cohort to insure they are able to effectively work with vulnerable populations of children (NASW, 2015). Social work practitioners are the scaffolding with which society can build up its most vulnerable populations, and the key to maintaining and enhancing the overall wellbeing of the young LGBTQ child population. School social workers foster equal access to education for all students, with a focus on disenfranchised and marginalized individuals in social institutions (Pack & Brown, 2017).

It has been mentioned previously; however, is noteworthy enough to mention again, that social workers are cited as the allied mental health professionals that provide the most specific supports to LGBTQ individuals in the U.S. (Craig et al., 2016). Ali and

Barden (2015) explicitly state that social workers must understand and recognize the cyclical nature of the coming out process and the special needs of this vulnerable population of children. School social workers are specially tasked members of the school community who teach adaptive coping strategies to deal with the stigmas of society, stress with coming out and functioning in a heteronormative environment, emotional regulation, and facilitate positive mental health trajectories (Bialer & McIntosh, 2016). As part of the school social worker's job, it is important to understand their own biases, as well as, how to effectively provide culturally competent services to this diverse group of children within the school setting (Ali & Barden, 2015).

Inequalities and injustice are built into modern U.S. school systems (McBride & Schubotz, 2017). Educational facilities specifically reproduce and enforce gender norms, conservative Christian values, and limitations to freedoms of expression through policies and procedures (Roen, 2016). Uniform policies, haircut policies, earring and jewelry policies, absence of LGBTQ identities in school curriculum, and potency of bullying policy enforcement can create facilities that negate or refute positive identity development for nonheterosexual-identifying students (McBride & Schubotz, 2017). The school social worker must combat these inequalities for LGBTQ children to be safe and supported, as part of their home-to-school liaison duties.

Social Workers' Lack of Education Specific to LGBTQ-Issues

Herek and McLemore (2013) posited that social workers are educated to work in a multicultural world of diversity, in the U.S.; however, these higher education facilities are still existing within a historically heterosexist environment. Social workers,

themselves, cite that they are underprepared, by their professional education, to provide services to LGBTQ populations (Craig et al., 2016; Craig et al., 2018; Dentato et al., 2016). If this is the case, underprepared social work students would then become social work practitioners who feel that they do not have adequate expertise to provide culturally competent services to LGBTQ members. Craig et al. (2016) further provide research that social work students, who themselves identify as LGBTQ, report low levels of preparedness to work with LGBTQ populations. Thus, it stands to reason that non-LGBTQ, heterosexual, social workers are extremely underprepared to provide services to a population that they are not a member of and do not understand as an insider. Ali and Barden (2015) discussed the inability for social workers to work effectively with LGBTQ members without education on the specific needs of the population such as understanding the cycle of the coming out process, as well as the ethics involved in working with clients who may not understand their identity yet and are vulnerable to other's swaying them one way or the other. Social workers must comprehend fully the needs of the LGBTQ population to properly be able to provide culturally competent services that are supportive, validating, and understanding towards the specific definition of the individual's own identity.

Summary

Social workers' inherent goal to advocate for marginalized populations and promote fair and equal access to all persons encompasses the need to focus on young LGBTQ children within the U.S. heteronormative school environment. Social workers are on the frontlines of the efforts to enhance the overall wellbeing of all persons within a

society. It is imperative for social work practitioners to implement policies and practices to facilitate better treatment of these young LGBTQ populations within the U.S. educational system (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Craig et al., 2016; Craig et al., 2018; Dentato et al., 2016; Kosciw et al., 2015).

Recent advancements in societal acceptance of LGBTQ individuals in the United States, such as marriage equality, have shown improvements in many areas of support and allyship which have created spaces of openness and tolerance; however, the overall heteronormative stance of society still plagues many young LGBTQ children every day (Lannutti, 2018; Seelman et al., 2015). School social workers as an identified significant support figure on educational campuses must to be able to address the needs of this vulnerable population (Ali & Barden, 2015). The pervasive negative and positive factors contributing to the health and well-being of young LGBTQ children should be recognized and considered when establishing, enacting, and interpreting policies on the school level. The school social worker as an integral, specially positioned member of the school staff needs to be highly visible as an ally for this population to ensure diversity exposure and acceptance is not only talked about, but also entrenched in the culture of the school, home, and community where they are employed (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). Section 2 will follow to describe the research design and data collection to answer the question posed for this study, including subheadings regarding participant selection and recruiting, methodology, and ethical procedures.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

The purpose of this qualitative inquiry was to explore the perceived barriers school social workers may encounter when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. The research question was as follows:

What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school in a southeast Louisiana school district?

In Section 2, I present the research design and methodology to answer the question regarding perceived barriers of school social workers when providing services to young LGBTQ children. Section 2 includes descriptions of the data analysis, interview protocol, and ethical procedures to safeguard participants and data. Section 2 also addresses other sources of data and their applicability to this study.

Research Design

The problem is that although social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there are systematic issues that thwart their ability to provide school social work services that adequately meet the specific support needs of young LGBTQ children, especially within the elementary and middle school setting. In this study, I sought to understand the perceived barriers that school social workers may view as possibly precluding them from being able to provide adequate, culturally competent services to this especially vulnerable group of children to increase the safety and support needed on their school campuses. Data on the overall adverse effects on LGBTQ children's' health

and wellbeing are amply documented in the literary lineage. LGBTQ students in high school and beyond have also been documented more thoroughly, with many studies focused on GSAs on these campuses. However, for the elementary and middle school age range, there is little to no recognition or service provision discussion present. The misalignment of social workers being educated for providing services in the multicultural world, paralleled by a lack of adequately meeting the culturally competent needs for younger, elementary and middle school LGBTQ children, prompts the current phenomenon of interest to explore the perceived barriers that may be leading to an inability to provide adequate services.

Due to the lack of knowledge on what perceived barriers might be precluding the ability to provide adequate services specifically with younger LGBTQ children, a semistructured interview, qualitative inquiry was chosen as the most appropriate for this current study. To be consistent with qualitative inquiry approach, the underlying belief of the study is that there are perceived barriers that are inhibiting appropriate service provision to young LGBTQ students. This qualitative semistructured individual interview study was conducted to explore practical knowledge that can help to develop a detailed understating of school social workers' perceptions and variations of viewpoints, and how these perceptions may be precluding adequate culturally competent service provision (see Patton, 2015). The research approach chosen aligned with my problem statement, purpose statement, and methodology chosen as part of this qualitative exploration. Qualitative inquiry was used through this semistructured interview study to allow an exploration of practical knowledge that can help to develop a detailed understanding of

school social workers' perceptions and variations of perceptions, and how these perceptions may be precluding culturally competent service provision (see Patton, 2015).

Methodology

Data Collection

This study included six participants who are current school social workers, working in a southeast Louisiana elementary or middle school setting. Semistructured interviews with an individual interview question guide including 15 questions and subsequent probes were used to obtain data from participants to determine what they perceived as barriers to providing services to young LGBTQ children in the school setting (see Appendix). According to Kallio et al. (2016), a semistructured qualitative interview is a purposeful conversation that uses a predetermined set of questions arranged in an interview guide, based on previous knowledge gathered by the researcher, with improvised use of follow-up probes, as needed, to cover the main topics of the study.

The predetermined questions in the interview guide are used to help facilitate the semistructured interview to ensure that each interviewee's data are collected on similar topics while allowing an in-depth understanding of the participant's own reality with the phenomenon in question (Bearman, 2019; Kallio et al., 2016). To gain a greater understanding of this phenomenon, semistructured interviews were chosen to help understand how school social workers experience and understand their own practice with young LGBTQ students. To gather as much data as possible from each participant, individual interviews allowed me to examine each participant's view of the perceived barriers when providing services with young LGBTQ children in their respective middle

school or elementary school settings, as well as through their clinical experience (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

The individual, semistructured interviews were audiotaped using a digital audio recorder to ensure all information gathered was verbatim from the participant. The timeframe for the individual interviews was between 90 minutes to 2 hours to allow time for the preplanned interview questions from the interview guide, follow-up probes as needed, and as much time as each participant needed to explore and discuss their answers in this one-time interview. The individual interviews began with me describing the purposes of the qualitative study, reviewing and ensuring the participant understood the informed consent and the research procedures, and ensuring the participants understood the voluntary nature of the interview and their ability to remove consent and end the interview at any time during the study. I also discussed the follow-up requirements for the participant, which included participants receiving the verbatim transcript being emailed to them so that they could read over it, agree with it, and clarify anything they wished to clarify, taking no longer than 30 minutes of their time. Demographic information was not sought or inquired about directly in the interview protocol as each participant who met the study criteria was interviewed as an effort to maintain confidentiality of the participants in this specific population.

The inclusion criteria for the study sample included school social workers who worked in a southeast Louisiana school district on an elementary or middle school campus. Social workers who work with children but are not employed by the school

system and school social workers who work with only high school populations were excluded from this current study as it was beyond my scope and purpose.

I used gathered data from the individual interview question guide, journal entries, and analytic memos. Reflexive journaling was conducted throughout the qualitative study process. From literature review research to the development of the purpose and problem to the creation of the interview protocol to the final data collection and analysis, I kept a journal of the process of how the research developed, mini milestone successes, and thoughts on ways to problem solve and continue to evolve the study. Journals were created using process notes, written text, and video journaling techniques. Analytic memos were created throughout the process of data analysis to develop ideas further and keep track of thoughts regarding the process of coding and categorizing. All of these data were maintained throughout the course of the study to add further insights, details, background, and data to the final product along with interview data collected from participants.

Participants

I conducted semistructured interviews with six school social workers who met the study criteria, including (a) currently working as a school social worker in southeast Louisiana, (b) working in an elementary or middle school setting, (c) working for a school district, (d) being willing and able to participate in a qualitative semistructured interview for approximately 90 minutes to 2 hours, (e) agreeing to follow-up requirements of the study to review the transcript for accuracy and clarity, which took no more than 30 minutes of the participant's time, (f) voluntarily agreeing to review and

consent to the informed consent statement, and (g) agreeing to be audiotaped during the semistructured individual interview. I recognized that the many different school districts, charter schools, and Catholic schools in southeast Louisiana hire mental health professionals in various different ways. For that reason, participant inclusion criteria also included the need to be employed by a district school location. Schools that contract their social workers were also excluded as these school social workers may work for agencies that perform different tasks than social workers hired by the school district.

Participant Sampling

Nonprobability, purposive sampling was chosen to specifically select participants who have experience with the target population, were willing and able to participate, and were informed on the needs of the school social work population in regards to the phenomenon being studied (see Hartwell, Serovich, Reed, Boisvert, & Falbo, 2017; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Purposive sampling was used to specifically select a homogenous sample of individuals based on particular characteristics, working within an elementary or middle school setting in southeast Louisiana as part of their district faculty, to best answer the research question (see Patton, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The school social workers selected were all from the geographic area of southeast Louisiana, which is located in the southern region of the United States. The participants were not all chosen from one school district, and the region selected for the study population included a purposefully wide generalized area of school districts to protect the confidentiality of the study participants. Participants selected for this study were purposively sampled and sourced from online published data on school districts' websites. An invitation email was

sent with my contact information to determine if the school social worker was willing to participate in the study. Following the invitation email, a copy of the informed consent was sent to each participant who agreed to be a part of the study. The individual semistructured interviews were then conducted based on the participants' availability in a location that allowed for privacy. No compensation or direct benefit was provided for participation in this study.

Due to the nature of the study and the study population chosen, social desirability and familiarity with me were specifically monitored throughout this study. Social desirability was monitored within this study as human nature leads to the bias of wanting to presenting oneself in a positive light when being recorded in a one-on-one interview under audio recording, especially in regards to discussing social norms (see Larson, 2018). To alleviate this bias, I discussed confidentiality assurances multiple times during recruitment and during the interview, as well as allowed space for the participant to answer freely and provided enough time and follow-up probes to gain a rich and detailed answer for each question (see Larson, 2018; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Due to my positionality, being from a similar background and possibly working closely with the participants who chose to participate in the study, participant recruitment was conducted through low-pressure communications via email. Participants were informed in the consent that choice of nonparticipation would not affect any prior or future relationships, and boundaries were maintained throughout recruitment, interview, and data collection to ensure the voluntary nature of the study and me functioning as solely researcher and not

that of colleague, friend, or peer within the study (see Johnson, Adkins, & Chauvin, 2020).

Instrumentation

Interviewing is at the heart of the relational approach employed by qualitative inquiry (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Interviews allow researchers to understand how others experience and make sense of their unique reality (Seidman, 2012). Using an individual interview guide, I was able to achieve rich data through open-ended questions aimed at generating responses from participants that were detailed, unique to themselves and their practice, and reflective of the interviewee's personal opinions on the barriers they view in working with this specific population in the elementary and middle school setting (Kallio et al., 2016).

Due to the pervasiveness of heteronormativity in the United States, LGBTQ issues are not often recognized by many individuals. Recent years have seen progress regarding more open and accepting sectors of society; however, generally speaking, LGBTQ members are still marginalized, discriminated against, left voiceless and powerless, and oppressed daily. Research regarding this phenomenon includes many similar topics such as discrimination, lack of services, increased risk of health and wellbeing risk factors, and need for advocacy and support (Moe et al., 2015; Palmer & Greytak, 2017; Wagaman et al., 2018). Unique findings include the ability to support and foster resilience in young LGBTQ members, including having a knowledgeable professional on a school campus that can specifically meet this population's unique needs (Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Kosciw et al., 2015). Finally, specific service provision to

young LGBTQ child populations includes literature regarding the effects of living within a heteronormative society (Kosciw et al., 2012; Rutherford, McIntyre, Daley, & Ross, 2012; Savage & Schanding, 2013; Wagaman et al., 2018). As mentioned above, these topics were covered in the created individual interview questions guide to ensure that data provided enough evidence for the study's exploration of this phenomenon (see Appendix).

The individual interview guide questions were rooted in the chosen theoretical framework of critical theory and included concepts from normative theory, heteronormativity, and democracy. Critical theory is based on the belief that groups of people are oppressed in society and that they need to be empowered. Further, this study supported the rejection of the status quo by questioning all disciplines to promote emancipation for those who lack power in a democratic society (see Stahl et al., 2014). Within this heteronormative society, educational facilities indoctrinate and enforce heterosexuality, and due to this, young LGBTQ students lack needed services to recognize, support, advocate for, and provide open acceptance to their gender identities or sexual orientations (Wagaman et al., 2018). Questions included in the interview protocol access social workers' knowledge, training, and perceptions of LGBTQ issues. The interview questions also examined the role of the school social worker in young LGBTQ students' education, how they viewed heteronormativity, and what they perceived as barriers to providing specific support to young LGBTQ students (see Appendix). Questioning the school social worker's service provision is part of a larger

effort to recognize and respond to the unique needs of LGBTQ students within the heteronormative school setting.

I kept track of key terms, noteworthy responses, and discussions that prompted more exploration in a notebook throughout data collection to supplement the verbatim audio-recorded interviews. Saturation was examined throughout this process of data collection. Saturation is when the research yields no novel ideas, information, or themes that can be deduced from the data (Burkholder, Cox, & Crawford, 2016; Guest, Bunce, & Johnson, 2006). Ravitch and Carl (2016) discussed saturation as the point when interviewees begin to make redundant statements, and no new cases need to be added as they would not provide new understanding regarding the phenomena of the study. Data collection goals were considered to be met when enough information was gathered on each of the main topics to begin to elicit similar responses from multiple participants such that no new data was being collected (Cyr, 2015; Guest et al., 2006).

Data Analysis

Data analysis was achieved for this individual semistructured interview, qualitative inquiry to make sense of the data through the selected critical theory lens through content analysis (see Meyer & Avery, 2009; Patton, 2015). The participants' data were audio-recorded and then transcribed, verbatim, solely by the researcher, and entered into an Excel spreadsheet for coding, analysis, and synthesis. I used content analysis by selecting keywords and phrases and manually entering them into the Excel spreadsheet. Content analysis derives the meaning of transcribed text by delineating patterns and themes within the data (Patton, 2015; Saladaña, 2016; Vaismoradi, Jones, Turunen, &

Snelgrove, 2016). Inductive content analysis was chosen to be especially appropriate for this exploratory study due to the research question which sought to find, identify, and categorize the perceived barriers that school social workers experienced when providing specific support services to young LGBTQ children, from their point of view (see Patton, 2015; Smith & Firth, 2011).

To inductively create knowledge regarding the perceived barriers of school social workers' provision of services to young LGBTQ children, my first cycle of data coding included exploratory and In-Vivo coding techniques to initially summarize the data into manageable process codes and initial codes (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Saladaña, 2016). The second cycle of data analysis included pattern coding to group, summarize, and synthesize the data's meaning based on these patterns and relationships between codes (see Saladaña, 2016). Lastly, themes were identified, and all relevant pieces of data were used to deduce the main product that answers the study's research question. A codebook was created with identified codes, categories, and emerging themes to maintain and preserve data throughout the coding and analysis process. A running analytic memo including reflections on the coding process; patterns, categories, themes that emerged, and further questioning and line of thinking were developed progressively throughout the coding process (see Saladaña, 2016).

Establishing Trustworthiness

The quality of qualitative research is judged by its ability to show trustworthiness or rigor to prove that the study is worthy of consideration for a scholarly audience (Connelly, 2016; Shenton, 2004). To ensure transparency and credibility, researchers

must demonstrate important ways the research was conceived, conducted, gathered, analyzed, and contextualized (Shenton, 2004). Lincoln and Guba's (1985) seminal work discussed the importance of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability for qualitative studies to show trustworthiness, which parallels the concepts of validity for more traditionally accepted quantitative approaches. Each of these concepts of trustworthiness was examined throughout the research process.

Credibility. Credibility is the plausibility of internal consistency between the research findings and the participants under study (Hadi & Closs, 2016). Through the use of triangulation, the current study used data collection and analysis interpretation based on multiple sources (Baillie, 2015; Burkholder et al., 2016). Through systematic fieldwork, with reflexive journaling, the current study ensured the credibility of data collection and the research process (Patton, 2015; Toma, 2011). Documenting my own positionality, as the researcher, and examination of research efforts were discussed and reviewed with assigned committee members to monitor bias. Through this examination, I also explored and discussed my own inherent biases and examined question creation, as well as coding and analysis efforts with assigned committee members to maintain a stance of integrity in data collection and dissemination of findings (see Patton, 2015; Spall, 1998).

Transferability. The second criterion that was used to evaluate the trustworthiness of this qualitative study is fittingness or transferability. Transferability is similar to generalizability as it examines the ability to accurately apply the findings within the context or population under study (Connelly, 2016; Shenton, 2004).

Transferability is dissimilar to generalizability in that the onus is on research consumers to make a judgment regarding if the findings may transfer based on the study's ability to present sufficient information on the process, participants, context, and researcher-asinstrument bias (Marrow, 1993). Using thick description, I described in detail the procedures, context, role of the researcher, and participants to permit transparency so that readers can determine applicability to their specific sites and personal practice (Meyer & Willis, 2018).

Dependability. Dependability strategies included documentation of the naturally occurring phenomena within the study's contextual boundaries (see Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Personal notes were documented throughout the process, reflexively journaling my thoughts, insights gathered, and further documents needed to be examined to answer the research question. This study used a created interview protocol based on the literary lineage of research on LGBTQ issues and modern educational facilities. The interview protocol has not been previously validated; thus, the data's dependability would benefit from empirically derived evidence (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Confirmability. Similar to dependability strategies, confirmability ensured that I could demonstrate how findings were obtained, observed, gathered, analyzed, and recorded to transparently show that the findings do not merely represent personal biases and beliefs (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Shenton, 2004). Data were transcribed verbatim from participant audio-recorded interviews to preserve the qualitative interviews. My beliefs and biases were also documented throughout this research process for a scholarly consumer to scrutinize with the findings. Throughout the research, reflexivity was

specifically used to critically evaluate this myself as the primary instrument of this qualitative inquiry (see Burkholder et al., 2016; Patton, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Ethical Procedures

This DSW qualitative study aimed to explore the perceived barriers of school social workers working in elementary or middle school settings in southeast Louisiana when providing services to young LGBTQ children. Data collection and contact with purposefully sampled participants did not begin until IRB approval was given (IRB of Walden University approval number: 08-14-20-0980501 on August 14th, 2020). Each participant was given ample time to make decisions through low-pressure email communication, with no deadlines attached to reduce any pressure from a sense of urgency. Participants were treated with professional courtesy and respect and allowed to determine if they wished to participate in this study independently, and boundaries between researcher and participant were maintained throughout with constant reminders of the study's voluntary nature.

Talking about a vulnerable population can sometimes leave people feeling uneasy, especially if they feel personally attacked in recognizing they may not be entirely unbiased. LGBTQ issues often are intertwined with faith, religious backgrounds, and morality. Social workers have personal opinions, biases, and feelings about people they come into contact with, and the questions that were asked in this study were examined to ensure that they did not open up uneasy feelings, anger, and misunderstandings. To safeguard participants and be fully committed to the research to gather accurate reflection of the participants' perceived barriers, I strictly enforced boundaries while balancing a

rapport with the purposefully chosen participant. Voluntarism was also ensured within the informed consent (see Cohen, Manion, & Morrison, 2018; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Guaranteeing participants had the freedom to withdraw at any time during the study, and transparently informing them of the study's true purpose occurred before data collection and as a reminder at the end of the interview (see Negozwana, 2018).

The informed consent was provided to each participant to review. The informed consent outlined confidentiality, described what was required of the participant during the study, timeframes regarding follow-up, and listed any known risks, inconveniences, or discomfort. Confidentiality measures that were taken throughout this study included: (a) use of a pseudonym for each participant during data collection, transcription, analysis, and discussion in the research study; (b) participants were asked to refrain from naming themselves, their specific work location/school/district, and any identifying information beyond questions covered by the individual interview guide were not asked; and (c) no directly identifying demographic data was purposefully asked for during the interviews to protect the anonymity of the individual participant in this specific geographic location. Measures for any unlikely events, such as psychological discomfort or any unanticipated disclosures regarding abuse, were discussed in the informed consent with specific followup measures that I would have taken. Each participant reviewed the informed consent, and informed understanding was achieved by email response, from the participant, with the words "I consent." Informed consent was required before any data collection occurred. The participants were told to maintain a copy of the informed consent for their records. During the interview, participants were told that they would receive their

verbatim transcripts of the interview to review, for clarity, and an executive summary of the study after completion to conduct the member checking process. Participants were also assured they could obtain a copy of the audio recording or transcripts upon request. Data gathered through audio-recorded interviews, as well as verbatim transcription, are stored and maintained solely by the researcher on a password protected computer with all participant names and identifying information removed and stored in a separate document that is password-protected itself.

Summary

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the perceived barriers of school social workers when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. The research question for this study is, "What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings in a southeast Louisiana school district?" The specific problem that prompted this research is, although social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there is a deficiency of culturally competent school-social work service provision that adequately meets the specific support needs of young LGBTQ children, especially within the elementary and middle school setting (see Cerezo & Bergfeld, 2013; Garbers et al., 2018). Data were collected via six school social workers employed by a school district in southeast Louisiana elementary or middle school settings. Data gathered was coded using inductive analysis to determine categories and

themes to answer the study's research question. Section 3 will follow to present the findings as well as themes that emerged, with examples from verbatim participant quotes.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this qualitative inquiry was to explore the perceived barriers school social workers may encounter when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. The research question is as follows:

What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school in a southeast Louisiana school district?

Qualitative inquiry was conducted using a semistructured individual interview question guide with six purposefully selected school social workers who are employed by school districts in Southeast Louisiana currently working in an elementary or middle school setting. Nonprobability, purposive sampling was chosen to specifically select participants who had experience with the target population, were willing and able to participate, and were informed on the needs of the school social work population in regards to the phenomenon being studied (see Hartwell et al., 2017; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Inductive content analysis was chosen to be especially appropriate for this exploratory study due to the research question specifically seeking to find, identify, and categorize the perceived barriers that school social workers experience when providing culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children from their point of view (see Patton, 2015; Smith & Firth, 2011). The data from participants were audio-recorded and then transcribed, verbatim, solely by me and entered into an Excel spreadsheet for coding, analysis, and synthesis. Codes were pulled from textual data and maintained in a

codebook to determine main concepts and delineate patterns in data. Categories were then deduced to summarize and synthesize the meaning of the data based on these patterns and relationships between codes. Lastly, themes were identified from all relevant pieces of data to deduce the main product that answers the study's research question (see Patton, 2015; Smith & Firth, 2011).

In Section 3, I present the data collection and analysis process and techniques that were used to answer this research question. Section 3 includes a description of the findings along with themes that emerged from the data and a summary of findings.

Data Analysis Techniques

Upon approval by the IRB of Walden University on August 14th, 2020, I began recruitment of school social workers who were employed by an elementary or middle school district in Southeast Louisiana. Twelve purposely sampled school social workers were invited to participate in this study via email. Six participants who met inclusion criteria responded and agreed to participate and subsequently consented to participate after reviewing the informed consent form, which was sent to them via email following agreement to participate. These six participants, all of whom were currently working in a school setting that included both elementary and middle school students, were interviewed via a semistructured qualitative interview format in August of 2020, following approval by the IRB. Each participant's individual interview lasted approximately 30 to 60 minutes and was audio-recorded and conducted via phone in an effort to maintain social distancing guidelines and comfortability of participation due to

the national health crisis and inability to meet face-to-face. Each participant was given a pseudonym to protect confidentiality during data collection and analysis.

At the beginning of each interview, I reviewed the informed consent information that each participant had previously consented to; discussed the purpose of the interview study; explained that the interview would take no longer than 90 minutes to 2 hours of their time; discussed the follow-up email they would receive with the verbatim transcription for them to review and clarify anything they should need, which took no longer than 30 minutes of their time; and asked participants if they had any questions before the interview began. During the interview, an audio-recorder was unobstructed and placed next to the phone to gather all information presented by the participant verbatim. I also had a digital clock to monitor time and a notebook that I used to take notes on important topics or responses to keep track of to ask follow-up questions or to be used during data coding and analysis.

Open-ended questions, with follow-up questions as needed to gain more clarity from participant answers, were used to seek understanding of the participant's experiences in working with young LGBTQ children, determine the barriers they perceived in working with this population, note the level of education and understanding they had for this population prior to field work and over past few years through continuing education unit (CEU) trainings, and note specific barriers they perceived in the elementary and middle school setting (see Allen & Solomon, 2016; Patton, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Throughout the interviews, I summarized important points that participants made to ensure accuracy and clarity. No participant made any indication that

they felt uncomfortable throughout their interviews, and all participants expanded on each question in important ways, speaking directly from their experiences. At the end of the interview, I asked participants if there was anything that was missed during the interview or if they had any questions, comments, or concerns. I thanked participants and reminded that they would be receiving a follow-up email with the verbatim transcription of the interview that would take no longer than 30 minutes of their time to review for anything that should need to be clarified. No compensation or direct benefit was provided to participants for their voluntary participation in this study.

Through the use of triangulation, I used data collection and analysis interpretation based on multiple sources, using the same set of semistructured interview questions to substantiate and add credibility of internal consistency between research findings and all six participants interviewed for this study (see Baillie, 2015; Burkholder et al., 2016; Hadi & Closs, 2016). After each of the six interviews were conducted, I transcribed the audio-recordings verbatim. The transcripts were solely created, maintained, and coded by me and not seen by any other individuals for this process. Prior to coding, transcripts were sent to participants via email to member check and ensure clarity and accuracy of transcription.

Inductive content analysis was used to analyze the data gathered from the six qualitative, semistructured interviews. Vaismoradi et al. (2016) posited that qualitative research methods are conducted to gather an in-depth, contextually-situated interpretation of the phenomenon of interest through identifying the theme or themes, which are the main product of the data analysis process. Through the process of coding and analyzing, I

conducted an interpretation of the data collected as the main instrument this qualitative exploration. After gathering textual data, the process of coding began with the first-round coding cycle, in which I became familiarized with the data, looking for words or short phrases that signified what was being discussed by the participant (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). The second-round coding cycle was used to read and reread the data multiple times and begin to summarize and condense data to be able to analyze what the data are trying to say regarding the perceived barriers of school social workers when working with young LGBTQ children (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Saladaña, 2016).

I created a codebook to make sense of the major categories that were being captured in the participant's words. After coding and classifying the data, categories were deduced to summarize and synthesize what the meaning of the data was based on patterns seen in the coding cycles (see Saladaña, 2016). A word or short phrase was assigned to a category of "chunked" data to determine collective codes that were illustrated by the data to consolidate what the actual meaning of the data is, not just what ideas are included in the data (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The codebook created included 72 key codes that were organized into 20 categories that summarized the data and led to five major themes and the most important data that the participants discussed. The themes derived took the emic, descriptive data and explained what the data were saying in regards to the research question, based on my perspective, using an etic approach (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Vaismoradi et al., 2016). Themes were developed from the data but show the rest of the world what the data mean to the study without scholarly consumers having to read through all of the transcribed data. Five themes were identified: (a) social work education

and understanding, (b) heteronormativity and the school system, (c) beliefs and values, (d) barriers, and (e) positives and what can be done.

In addition to triangulation, which was discussed previously, I used member checking to add credibility to my interpretation of the data. Member checking was conducted by providing participants a copy of their individual transcripts to ask for feedback and check for clarity and accuracy (see Burkholder et al., 2016; Shenton, 2004). Other procedures to increase the trustworthiness of the study included using thick description of study procedures to increase transferability, audit trail, codebook maintenance, reflexive journaling, as well as transparency of the study process from start to finish, and preservation of the interview though verbatim audio-recordings of interviews (see Burkholder et al., 2016; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 2015; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Reflective journaling was used to document my thoughts, insights gathered, and further research needs throughout the study to add to the dependability (see Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Finally, negative case analysis was examined as emerging themes of positives were discussed by participants. By discussing these nonbarriers and things that are going well, I was able to give clearer picture of the data and not just the barriers that were sought by the research question (Barusch, Gringeri, & George, 2011). All documentation of this study, including notes, audio-recordings, memos, journals, and drafts, are required to be kept for a minimum of 5 years in accordance with Walden University's IRB.

Limitations

Due to the lack of knowledge on what perceived barriers might be precluding the ability to provide adequate services specifically with younger LGBTQ children, an exploratory, semistructured interview, qualitative inquiry was chosen as most appropriate for this current study (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). In this study, I focused on school social workers who are currently employed in an elementary or middle school setting in Southeast Louisiana. The sample size of this study was six participants who worked within this large geographic area of this southern state in the United States of America. Although the sample size was small, this study can be used as an educative study exploration for school social workers' perceived barriers when providing services to young LGBTQ students by other social workers in similar urban-area school districts in similar geographic locations. One limitation I noted was the lack of demographic information gathered for comparison beyond the inclusion criteria of being a licensed social worker working in an elementary or middle school setting as a district employed school social worker. To maintain confidentiality and anonymity of participants, demographic information was purposefully not gathered in this study due to the specificities of the geographic location under study; however, it would be beneficial in future studies to examine how years of experience, level of licensure, and/or other factors may further examine the phenomenon of interest.

Findings

The proliferation of bias and prejudicial attitudes towards the LGBTQ community have been studied and empirically recognized throughout modern history. School social

workers, as the school-to-home mental health liaison, have a duty to protect and support vulnerable populations of students (Austin et al., 2019). Research supports the overarching need for the young LGBTQ population as they report a higher risk of suicide, bullying, and harassment, early and problematic drug and alcohol usage, and risky sexual practices (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2019; Palmer & Greytak, 2017). Social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world; however, there are systematic issues that thwart their ability to provide school social work services that adequately meet the specific support needs of young LGBTQ children, especially within the elementary and middle school setting.

This study's sample was composed of six school social workers, currently licensed to practice in the state of Louisiana, working as a school district employee in a southeast Louisiana elementary or middle school. This study sought to understand the school social workers' perceived barriers, who worked within elementary and middle school settings in Southeast Louisiana when providing services to young LGBTQ children. Based on participants' responses, it appears that there is a lack of education across the board for social workers, barriers of administration and teacher understandings, constraints on school social worker's time, barriers due to the intertwinement of religiosity and politics, parental barriers, and an overall urge for social workers to educate the staff in their school buildings further. Positive findings include social workers recognizing each student's individual needs, the recognition that there are more CEU and training opportunities in the past 5 years, and the expressed belief that younger generations are more accepting and welcoming to all populations.

Themes

Data collection and analysis, following qualitative interviews, revealed five emergent themes including (a) social work education and understanding of heteronormativity, (b) heteronormativity and the school systems, (c) beliefs and values, (d) barriers, and (e) positives and what can be done. The findings better situate an understanding of the perceived barriers of school social workers working in elementary and middle school settings in Southeast Louisiana, as well as positives and potential avenues for growth for the social work field as a whole. Participants were given the pseudonyms of Mary, Angela, Jocelyn, Christina, Shannon, and Steve. All participants were licensed school social workers who worked in an elementary or middle school setting in Southeast Louisiana. Pseudonyms have been assigned to help make sense of the following identified themes, outlined below. Participant quotes are provided, with minor editorial changes for readability, to support each theme.

Theme 1: Social Work Education and Understandings of Heteronormativity

This theme was discussed by participants in regards to (a) education prior to working in the field or past education, (b) CEU training and current education, and (c) understanding of vocabulary and specifics about heteronormativity. In regards to education prior to working in the field, all six participants, out of six, reported that they did not feel that their master's in social work program prepared them adequately to work with the LGBTQ population in general. Mary stated,

When I was in school, we did not do a whole lot. I mean, we were taught to treat people the same and not bring in your biases and prejudices into your practice.

But specifically, for the LGBT community, I think we are doing a lot more work around that now. We are doing a better job in keeping the LGBTQ community more inclusive. There are a lot of things now that we are doing that we weren't doing then.

Christina reported the following:

Um, so I guess not part of my curriculum. I believe there was maybe one class offered in graduate school regarding LGBTQ issues, and it was not a required class, and I didn't take it as an elective.... I definitely think having more classes and having more options and not having it just as an elective and having it as a requirement would have been beneficial.

Steve shared,

Briefly. I know they were included in some ways, but not at a depth that I could pinpoint in any ways... there probably could have been better focus on gender identity and LGBTQ in general.

Shannon reported,

Well, that was a long time ago. Honestly, I think it may have been in a class or two, but I don't think it was anything that was memorable, apparently because I don't really remember.

Angela verbalized,

There was nothing. There was no exposure at all. The track that I was on was health and mental health, and um, so that was a subject that has never been

addressed. That is a population that has never been considered to be part of the curriculum.

Although all participants shared that they did not remember LGBTQ populations being a focus of their prior education, participants did discuss that there have been more CEU training opportunities available for social workers in the past few months and past few years. For example, Angela remarked,

What I can say is that over the past couple of months, I have seen more and more LGBTQ specific trainings appear and be offered. But in the past, I have not been exposed to nor saw any information or CEUs that address LGBTQ specifically.

Mary reported the following:

I think that we have more of a choice now days. There is more now on the LGBTQ population, like when I do the national conventions, they always offer something on the LGBTQ community.

Jocelyn agreed that there are more CEUs offered specifically related to LGBTQ issues in more recent years, citing,

I don't remember the exact number, but it has definitely become more prominent in the last five years, I would say. I have noticed that within any forum that comes up, that topic is represented in that forum.

Specifically, for this study, the word heteronormativity was explored with the school social work participants to determine what it means to them and their practice. All participants, except one, stated that they were guessing or had not previously heard the word heteronormativity. However, despite saying they were guessing, which leads me to

believe that heteronormativity does not seem to have a mainstream understanding, all participants did accurately guess, with some stating it was due to their practice knowledge and not their formal social work education. Mary guessed the word when the question was presented. She stated the following:

Um. I would say, just by the word you used. What was it, heteronormativity?...I would say that means like, um, and I'm not sure if I have it correct because I have never heard the word before. But I would say when you think of heterosexual, someone that is being with the opposite sex, you normalize it, and you believe that is true for everyone. I may be off, but um, yeah, that's my guess.

Angela similarly responded that she did not know and had not ever heard the word heteronormativity; however, she guessed,

I do not know. What it sounds like, if I had to take a guess on what I think it means, is that heterosexuality is the only normal way to live.

Christina, who stated she had heard the word before from a colleague social worker, said that she did not know if she was correct but stated,

I think that I have heard that word before from a colleague. I guess it's the assumption that all people are heterosexual and that being straight is the only way to be.

Based on the participants' comments regarding the lack of LGBTQ-specific education and training that they felt would have better prepared them to work with all students within an elementary and middle school setting, it seems that current training in social work practice has become more inclusive. However, there is still room to grow so

that all social workers are better prepared to work with diverse populations of individuals. A few participants specifically noted that they felt like the LGBTQ population was excluded from mainstream education and all recommended that social work schools should include LGBTQ issues as part of the education that all social workers receive as part of their required coursework. The NASW Code of Ethics (2017) mission is to ensure equality and social justice advocacy is provided to all people in society, specifically including those who are most vulnerable; thus, it is imperative that social work practitioners are being prepared by their educational institutions to meet the needs of these extremely vulnerable young LGBTQ children.

Theme 2: Heteronormativity and the School System

Following the discussion of heteronormativity and the realization that this word may not be mainstream for the majority of social workers, I provided an example of heteronormativity to open discussion about how this may be seen in the elementary and middle school setting. Elementary and middle school campuses in the United States are tasked with the legal, ethical, and moral obligation to provide equal access to education and personal safety for every student in society (Moe et al., 2015). Norms taught to young children during their formative years have a major factor in their lifelong values and beliefs (Seelman et al., 2015). Regarding heteronormativity and the school system, barriers fell into the categories of (a) societal structures and impacts on children, (b) younger children lacking the words to express themselves but understanding that they are different than their peers, (c) administrator education, and (d) school policies and procedures that allow heteronormativity to thrive. All participants discussed how societal

norms of heteronormativity are commonplace in elementary and middle school settings.

The majority of participants specifically exampled things that they have seen, heard, or could imaging seeing in PreK and Kindergarten classrooms. Mary reported the following:

You know when you look at playing house, schools teach children how to play.

Like when you look at Kindergarten or PreK students, they learn different things as far as what is perceived as normal behavior and what is not okay. They learn that girls should play with dolls, and boys should play with trucks. So, I think as a society, we definitely enforce it, and it shows up in our schools.

Angela also discussed an example from preschool saying,

If you watch kids playing and if a little boy goes over, especially back in preschool grades, if a little boy wants to go over to play with a baby doll, the teacher may take the doll and usher the kid over to where the cars and trucks are. Shannon took it one step further to explain that teachers are not trained in diversity and multicultural understanding as much as a social worker with the following statement:

Teachers do not have the same training that social workers have so they make comments such as "man of the house" or "knight in shining armor" that is just something that they do naturally in the classroom setting... I think a lot of older people think that students, especially younger students do not deal with the issue regarding their gender identity or sexual orientation at all, or they typically just believe that they are confused. That is a misconception that I think is kind of taught when we were in school, or at least when I was in school. And it is a

misconception that I think needs to be changed because it is an issue that our young students deal with on a regular basis.

Steve further discussed teachers' role in recapitulating gender-stereotypical behaviors that enforce heteronormativity within the classroom setting reporting,

In younger children, sometimes, a teacher may look at a boy and a girl who are good friends and make comments that are inappropriate about how they are boyfriend and girlfriend or that they are dating. And then heteronormativity plays into bullying because anything that is not the norm or doesn't go with the norm will be looked down upon and shunned by others.

Heteronormativity within the classroom can make it difficult for students to understand themselves and develop their own sense of identity. Participants discussed younger children specifically as having more difficulty as they are not yet able to express themselves verbally fully. Although they do not have the words to express what they are feeling or name their identity, the participants discussed that they understand that they are different due to not fitting into heteronormative societal outlooks. In regards to younger students being able to identify themselves, Steve said the following:

I think that there is no absolute. There is always going to be a small percentage who will identify that they are different than the normative and be able to pinpoint what that difference is. But I think there is a larger population who would have never thought about that difference exactly. Like a lot of small children don't pay attention to attraction in that form yet. Or even they may just notice that they are interested in different things, like different toys or fashion. But there are not the

words or consistency yet because children are just trying to figure out their identity in a longitudinal stance.

Mary reported,

I think [younger children] may not be able to put a name on it... I think that they do know that they like to dress a certain way or what have you. I think it can cause them great stress and causes them to isolate because they are feeling different and not feeling like everyone else. And it can open up a whole lot about depression or suicide because they feel different and they don't feel like they are part of the norm because we do not make them feel like they are part of the norm, and everyone should feel that they are valued.

Angela said,

I don't think that they have the wording, the terms for it, I think that if they are more exposed to what this means. Just like when we are working with children and teaching them how to label their feelings, then they would more so be able to identify and speak to what they are feeling. I think they would be able to identify because they don't have the language for it yet. I think that we need to go into the classrooms and, just like [other Social Emotional Learning] programs, where we go in and discuss how we need to be kind to everyone and be respectful to everyone. And not so much concentrate on a gender or a pronoun [especially for the younger children] and just concentrate on people. See people as people. And so, it begins at the top using psychoeducation [with administration] and working our way down to the students.

Multiple participants discussed the need for social workers to educate and advocate to administrators. Specifically, more than one participant discussed administration, at the school level, as a barrier and a needed target area for social workers to focus their advocacy for young LGBTQ children. Mary reported the following:

Administration is the key. You know if you have administrator buy-in and an admin that is open and accepting and receptive to what you bring to the table as a school social worker, then the climate is better. Sometimes you have administrators that have been in the system for years, and that affects the climate in a lot of our major cities across the United States.

Christina stated,

I think probably the biggest obstacle for the social worker is acceptance from administration. Like they may not feel like they want to do that at the school, how will the parents feel. So, I think getting the administration on board, working with the parents and getting the parents on board, and knowing that this is okay, especially for elementary kids, because people may feel like they are so young.

Along with targeting advocacy towards administration, participants discussed school policies and procedures as needed to be examined as they further enforce heteronormativity on young children. Mary stated the following:

As far as the educational system, I think we could definitely do a better job at [making our policies and procedures more accepting]. When you have decision makers at the forefront of making policies and procedures of the school, and when LGBTQ issues aren't considered, then you have people come in with their

preconceived notions and create the climate based on their beliefs because it is not spelled out in the policies.

Angela referenced the following:

Certain policies and procedures are for boys, and certain policies and procedures are for girls. Whether it be like earrings, or things like jewelry, where girls are allowed to wear earrings and boys are not. Boys are given different options than girls.

Steve verbalized,

The dress codes can be very heteronormative and very whitewashed. In terms of how you can and cannot wear you hear, who can and cannot wear jewelry. The idea of what a person should wear, even in public school, you know, why can't a boy wear a dress?

Although all participants discussed LGBTQ issues being more prominent and a more general overall greater acceptance for LGBTQ issues, heteronormativity within the school system is still ever-present across multiple sources such as administrator acceptance and schools' policies and procedures. One participant stated that she believed high school settings were more accepting and open with programming that is pro-LGBTQ; however, she had never seen this same work being done on an elementary or middle school campus. A few participants explored school social workers having to work with the young LGBTQ student themselves and having to work with administration, teachers, and policymakers to truly make a difference on the pupil-level.

Theme 3: Beliefs and Values

Beliefs and values were a theme that encompassed topics including (a) personal and professional beliefs and role development and (b) cultural competency and values. Participants discussed personal beliefs and their beliefs about the biggest struggle for LGBTQ students in the elementary and middle school setting, including bullying, ostracizing, lack of support, lack of understanding, and stereotyping. Their professional beliefs blended into cultural competency as it pertained to work with this specific vulnerable population. Participants also discussed the need for children to be educated and to bring normalization to the topic of LGBTQ so that children are exposed to diversity, as well as educating teachers to help them be more mindful of heteronormativity and how to include all children better regardless of their gender identity or sexual orientation. Angela expressed that she believed students mostly struggle with,

Feeling accepted. Being ostracized and feeling that "I'm different" and being afraid to come out. I think more kids these days, like generation X children, they are more accepting. Like when I was in school people knew we had gay people, but it was something you didn't say. And I think these days more kids are more open and accepting and children can come out and say "look this is who I am, take it or leave it." So, I think, as a society, we have gotten better about it but we still have a lot of youth who are still scared and don't feel accepted.

Bringing normalization to LGBTQ issues was also discussed by Shannon, who stated the following:

I think it would be a positive to have materials or books including LGBTQ topics because we have to learn. If you aren't provided with the information, then you just don't know.

Mary expressed,

I think having discussion and educating, making sure school policies and procedures, and the school culture and climate is inclusive of everyone. So, I think the role of the school social worker is educating staff, and when you see something, say something. Though we are discussing LGBTQ issues, being a social worker, we all have to be honest because we all have our own biases and we all grew up differently. We need to be able to put ourselves in a space and be able to recognize and check our own biases... As social workers you can do so much harm if you are not aware of what it takes to work with a specific population.

Steve stated.

I think cultural competency with LGBTQ children looks like the tenants of acceptance and nonjudgmental. Because in those cases we are there to help someone find themselves or help them with identification of identity... I think, especially in an elementary school, heteronormativity is present and we need to not always assume those stereotypes and need to do more to prevent the heteronormative views. [Social workers] also, need to work with teachers who may purposefully or accidentally limit the amount of available items for all genders, during play time, and to not make judgements on what toys the kid

should be able to play with. And to point out that those judgements can lead to the students internalizing what is deemed right or wrong.

Angela also discussed cultural competency in regards to working with young LGBTQ students stating the following:

I think the biggest thing, and this is with all populations, is being open minded.

Because if I bring my beliefs into certain situations, then I may not be open minded or accepting of a certain person.

Participants discussed LGBTQ students increased suicidal ideation rates, bullying, and overall fear of school not being a safe space for all. Two participants discussed the misunderstanding of sexual orientation and sexual attraction, citing that younger students may not have sexual attraction feelings yet, which leads others to believe that they cannot accurately identify their sexual orientation at such a young age. The NASW Code of Ethics (2017) discusses the value of competence as social workers' inherent need to ensure that they can work with all groups of individuals within their educational training boundaries. Social workers should ensure that they are culturally aware and understand the client's social diversity within their service provision (see NASW, 2017). Each participant discussed their belief that social work schools do not fully educate a practitioner to be competent in working with the LGBTQ population specifically, so there is an educational barrier being met through ongoing CEU training and practice knowledge. School social workers, per the participants, are knowledgeable on the unique barriers for young LGBTQ students, understand culturally competent practice in general, and have the knowledge to be able to teach other educators at their school settings to be

more open and accepting of all students regardless of gender identity or sexual orientation.

Theme 4: Barriers

Barriers were the specific source of knowledge sought after within this DSW project. As a reminder, the research question for this study was: What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings in a southeast Louisiana school district? Many noteworthy barriers were discussed by participants, including (a) time; (b) lack of education for social workers, teachers, and administration; (c) heteronormativity built into the school system; (d) administration, teachers, and parental barriers; (e) children's understanding and ability to express themselves; (f) policies and procedures; (g) geographic location; and (h) religiosity and policies. Time was the first barrier that became prevalently described by all school social work participants. Shannon reported, Time is a factor in providing services to all of our children because there is never enough time in a day. And LGBTQ students need extra support. So, I think that time is a huge barrier.

Steve commented,

Time is the biggest barrier. School social workers are stretched very thin with all of the things that they have to do and the required provisions of therapy including working with children that have IEPs [which require] you have to do specific work.

Angela stated the following:

I mean there are a million different roles that we play in our setting. We have to, of course, be the voice for the student sometimes. And we have to, especially with administration, because you know, administration often works on a business model and they are not trained the same way as a social worker so they may approach things from a different perspective than how we would. So, working with administration is really important. Also working with the stakeholders and the ones that make policies. As far as the student, you know, helping them get their voice in certain situations, helping them verbalize their needs, what they want, what they can and cannot do. Things like that to help them to be their own advocates and helping them to empower themselves.

Lack of education was discussed across the board. Lack of education specifically for social workers prior to working in the field, lack of education for administration on how to properly ensure students are all treated equally through policies and procedures, and lack of understanding and education available to teachers. Angela reported,

The general thought in people's mind is heteronormativity, and until they are educated on it, they can't begin to do something different. So, if they aren't educated, then nothing will change. I think that one of the main things is that we should be able to create a safe, affirming space. We should be protecting LGBTQ students from bullying, but we should also be able to educate, not only them but also school-wide. Like when we start school each year, it is mandatory that we talk about bullying, it's mandatory that we talk about suicide, they have a whole list of things that are mandatory to teach and learn about, and I think that again,

we are excluding LGBTQ students' realities. We are excluding not a topic but a group of individuals. And I think that it needs to be discussed because they need to be protected as well as acknowledged through educating teachers and staff.

Shannon stated the following:

Teachers do not have the same training that social workers have, so they make comments such as "man of the house" or "knight in shining armor" that is just something that they do naturally in the classroom setting. Working with the teacher is really the most important to train them on how to handle certain situations. Like if a student doesn't want to be identified as "he," then I would work with that teacher to help them so that the student feels supported, and the teacher doesn't just view it as strange or awkward. Working with and educating the teacher is just as important so that they know how to handle and be open to things like that.

Mary said,

As a school social worker, you are there to advocate. So, I think that is our role to make sure the information is out there as a school social worker, helping staff recognize their own biases and what their core values are and making sure they check those things at the door.

Participants discussed an overall lack of knowledge around LGBTQ issues for staff, administration, and social workers. Participants also remarked about how they felt heteronormativity is built into the educational teaching at modern-day school settings.

Specifically, four of the six interviewees discussed preschool age and younger grade

students being specifically indoctrinated with gender-normative behaviors and societal beliefs of heteronormativity. Regarding the barrier of heteronormativity being built into the school system, participants discussed how this created a lack of safety for students and how administration, teachers, and parents enforce it. Mary stated,

We [as a society] have been already wired to think that heteronormativity is normal, and then when you do not identify as a heterosexual you then think something is wrong with you.

Christina remarked,

Like principals may not know it may be bad to say boys can't wear earrings, but girls can. But I think, its mainly about educating and making people aware of the issues is our main job. I feel like you can have a million safe places in the school, but if you have that one place that is not safe, that is what students feel and what they remember.

Mary discussed the following:

You may have a teacher that doesn't understand what it means to be open and accepting to all students and may say things or do things that may seem normal to that person, and the majority of the classroom, but if you have a child who may be thinking maybe I'm gay, or maybe I'm a lesbian and the teacher and staff make these comments accidentally then everyone and the whole school feels like it is not accepting of the LGBTQ student.

Christina stated,

Parents sometimes might be in denial or want their children not to be [LGBTQ]. And many parents think the school is not the place and they want their children to talk about this to anyone. But you know, I have been fortunate enough to run across some great parents that were very accepting of their children and just wanted to make sure their children were happy and whole.

Angela specifically noted, "The biggest obstacle is mindset of leaders."

Jocelyn reported the following:

If we are trying to provide [LGBTQ students] with an inclusive education we need to educate the teachers and the administration... Barriers from parental consent, and even barriers with getting consent from upper management or higher authority in the school to do that work, that's the biggest barrier.

All participants discussed a barrier to working with elementary and middle school children, who may identify as LGBTQ, is that younger children may not understand the vocabulary to express themselves fully. Each participant described this as the main reason why it is so important for the school social worker to be able to knowledgeably and effectively work with this population in the elementary and middle school setting. Steve, who has extensively worked with the transgender and nonbinary population, stated,

Especially with elementary school kids, there are not those terms. There is not that understanding that comes with gender identity or that there is a gender nonbinary-ness. Sometimes there is not an understanding with lesbian, gay, bisexual; because developmentally, there is not a sexual understanding, and you

might know that you are different, but if you don't have the sexualized attractions, you can't necessarily put your finger on what it means for you to feel different because of the normalization of heterosexuality.

Mary stated the following:

It gets tricky because with students that young, you may have people who think you are promoting homosexuality [if it is discussed]. But I think it is what it is, and children are dealing with these thoughts, and maybe not at a point where they feel safe enough to share with their parents yet. You know, so many kids get the support from school first, for anything, not just the LGBTQ community, but you have a lot of kids who share things at school that they haven't yet shared with anyone because they may not be in a family where they can afford outside counseling so the school social worker is a person they know they can rely on.

Angela said,

Most times, students find their refuge at school when they have no one else to talk to. School is their safe haven. But, a lot of times, parents may not sign a consent slip for a child to participate in such a program. Due to fears of their own, and so I think a component of it has to be the parent buy-in and meeting with parents and getting parents to understand why it's important, and alleviating some of their fears and anxiety around the subject.

Shannon reported the following:

The biggest things, not that teachers are at fault, but sometimes children try to say things, and they don't know how to say it, and they may get shut down if they are

taking too long to say it or they don't know how to verbalize it correctly. Because sometimes teachers, school administration, or school staff may abruptly end the dialogue that a student is trying to have. So, I think just normalizing it and having that open dialogue in the school and classroom setting is really important to have... That would open up dialogue with the students because many students may not be able to have a conversation with parents, adults in general, or their peers. So just helping to open up a dialogue to let students know they are not different and can speak about it.

Policies and procedures came up as a barrier with all participants. Two participants specifically cited geography as a barrier in regards to policies and procedures, reporting that in the southern regions of the United States and southern Louisiana, policies and procedures may be behind some other areas of the nation or other states. Christina reported,

I believe that school policies and procedures intend to be open and accepting of all students. But I don't think that it is always that way. I do think a lot of times, we do have the correct policies and procedures in place, but the day-to-day practice may not always as open and accepting as it should be.

Shannon stated the following:

Policies and procedures are a barrier because they are not supportive of [LGBTQ] students. I'd have to say that policies and procedures are the biggest hurdle. Time, obviously, like I said, is a barrier too and that's always going to be an issue but, we can always make due with our schedules the best that we can. But, policies

and procedures we cannot, ourselves, change it on paper. So, if we are not advocating and educating and bringing these issues to the higher ups, and even if you do bring it to admin, that doesn't mean that any changes are going to actually be made. In Louisiana, they are a little behind the times with policies and procedures. I know there are a lot of places that are definitely more ahead of us in different areas, but where here they are definitely behind the times with the ways that policies and procedures are worded, and they are not open and accepting of all students. And it's not that we can even make outside referrals for extra support for LGBTQ students because there are just not a lot of services for students who may identify as LGBTQ in this area.

Steve verbalized,

Parents [provide barriers] because it is such an ostracizing issue. Especially in this area.... In Louisiana, in the deep south. Although that's not necessarily true because it's the same everywhere. It's unfair to say that just the deep south is terrible because it's not like places, like the northeast, are that much better as a whole for the LGBTQ population.

Two of the six participants discussed religiosity and politics as specific barriers that impede school social workers and elementary and middle school settings as a whole regarding the LGBTQ population. Steve stated the following:

I would say it's very religiously and politically charged when you are talking about LGBTQ issues. So that's a real barrier when you are trying to create a more

inclusive atmosphere, but you are running into people's religious and political beliefs about right and wrong.

Christina reported,

I think for school, I think we are always affected. Even though we are a school, we are affected by the religious and political beliefs of our community. Especially our state government, because they make the rules for what our schools look like. So, I think there is a bigger discussion than just what happens at the school. I think there is a discussion about our policies and our legislative issues in general.

Barriers discussed by participants affected the school social workers' ability to meet the specific support needs of the young LGBTQ student and the entire school climate. Most participants spoke directly to the school social worker's work as advocating for change through educating parents, administration, teachers, and students. The multifaceted roles of the school social worker are documented throughout all themes that emerged, which lead to discussions about not having the time to support a young LGBTQ student fully, and due to geographic barriers not being able to appropriately refer to outside mental health agencies due to, per the participants, not having referral sources for these especially vulnerable children. Many barriers were discussed within this theme to answer the research question; however, many positives were also discussed within the interviews that are noteworthy to be further focused on in the field of social work.

Theme 5: Positives and What Can Be Done

All participants mentioned positive societal advances, specifically within the last five years, which have created a more open view of LGBTQ populations. Many positive

advances and ideas for what can be done to better support young LGBTQ children were discussed by every participant interviewed. Positives were examined as negative case examples or in opposition to the barriers that were being explored within this research study. Positives included (a) "society getting better" and younger generations being more open and accepting, (b) more discussions and trainings being offered in recent years, (c) social workers recognizing that every individual situation is different and has unique needs, (d) "education is key," and (e) opening up dialogue and normalizing. Mary relayed the following information regarding "society getting better":

I think we have come far with that, as far as being more open and accepting, but I still think we have a lot of work to do.

Jocelyn commented,

I honestly, for some apparent reason, my views on LGBTQ is almost the norm now. Maybe it's just because I see it is more accepted now. Like it is okay, you know? You are who you are, and we are accepting it.

All six participants referenced more CEU training opportunities being offered within the last five years. Advancing your ability to understand and appreciate the complexity of individual intersectionality of identities is an important factor in providing adequate services and meeting the standard of cultural competency (see NASW, 2017; Robinson et al., 2016; Weinstock, 2019). Participants commented on recognizing each individual as having different life situations and different needs as an important positive take away from the six interviews. Concerning having more CEU opportunities over the

past few years, Christina reported that she had learned a lot that she did not previously know. Specifically, she verbalized the following:

I just think it has given me a greater respect for the complexity of issues faced by those students. And it could be little things, like, you know, what bathroom to use.

Mary, discussing an appreciation for the individual nature of understanding one's own identity, said,

Things that we may not always think of, so it's the complexity of the issues.

I think it just takes learning and growing and seeing. I think students can put a name on it later, but it all depends on that child and that situation...I also think that we a lot of times are too quick to make children identify. It is like everything else, and you grow and evolve, and you kind of have to figure out like who you are, and sometimes as a society I think we are like, ok you have to pick a side. And I don't think that is healthy or that is right.

Jocelyn reported,

So, I believe each situation is different. Sometimes, you know, I believe that kids struggle with their identity. I believe that each child and situation is different.

Some people are sure about who they are, and some people, it takes them a longer time to get there.

All participants discussed education as a barrier; however, education was also discussed by multiple participants as the key to the emancipation of societal norms and advocacy for young LGBTQ children. Participants discussed education, at all levels, needs to be more robust. Angela verbalized the following:

But again, I'm going to go back to lack of education. If I'm not educated, and it doesn't become part of the norm or what is considered to be the norm, meaning that I need to be aware. If I'm not aware and enlightened, then I move through life without even addressing it... if we are trying to provide [LGBTQ children] with an inclusive education, we need to educate the teachers and the administration.

Jocelyn stated,

Educating everyone. Every moment is a teaching moment, so no matter how you do it, creative ways are the best ways.

Christina specifically reported,

By educating, you are also advocating... it goes back, again, to educating. Like educating the teachers on what is appropriate and in the best interest of all students. And if we educate, then the classroom becomes a more welcoming and safer environment, and the kids will want to be there.

Steve mentioned the key to supporting LGBTQ students, in his view:

Just education. As far as the topic in general because it is something that a lot of people don't understand or might not have knowledge of.

Specifically, in regards to social work education, participants verbalized what they would change if they could go back now and change something regarding their master's level education to be more LGBTQ inclusive. Christina stated the following:

I definitely think having more classes and having more options and not having it just as an elective and having it as a requirement would have been beneficial.

Mary reported,

I think, maybe if [social work schools] had more discussions around LGBTQ issues, because a lot of the things I know now are just from on the job learning. I think just being a little bit more specific with dealing with that specific population. Because when I think about what I learned in school, I draw mainly from working with child, youth, and families and not specifically with working with LGBTQ population. So, I think just mainly having more course work around those issues and having those types of conversations would have been more helpful in my studies.

Steve said,

I think if they include more LGBTQ discussions within the diversity courses they required. I know that, understandably, the diversity classes focus on a lot of race and sex. And there probably could have been better focus on gender identity and LGBTQ in general.

The final category listed within this theme of positive take-a-ways includes opening up dialogue and normalizing through classroom lessons, diversity representation, and all school areas. Normalizing the LGBTQ population within the school setting was cited by most participants as a positive way to shift the culture of the school away from a stance of heteronormativity. Participants discussed culture shifts towards more inclusivity would be a positive thing at the school level and for society as a whole. Angela remarked,

If you normalize it and it becomes a part of the conversation, then it eventually becomes part of the culture. Because if I'm hearing about it and it's included in, it's not looked at as something wrong, bad, or different... And so, I think having

it as part of a curriculum, having books in the classrooms, using examples...like, when they are doing math problems, and say they are doing a math problem where they are comparing something, and they are talking about a family, and instead of the family being Mary and Jack, the family is Mary and Sue have two children.

Shannon stated she felt it was important to "Normalize it in the classroom setting. Being able to have open conversations opens up dialogue."

Steve expressed,

For the Tier 1 level, like work with the teacher to include things like in entrance or exit tickets, like identify positive qualities about yourself. English classes, you could fold that into vocab. I think at the very base levels, kind of back to one of our previous conversations, just let free play be free play. If a boy wants to play with a barbie, let him play with a barbie. If a girl wants to play with trucks, she can play with trucks. You know, if in that small percentage, there is a child who identifies as transgender or nonbinary, to use proper pronouns and to use their new name. You know, with the trans population, help develop better understanding that the name process of changing a name is a long process and that not calling them correctly can be triggering and even bullying, maybe even if you don't mean it. So, like that kind of thing where you get into higher levels, like in middle school it could be talking about social justice in history class, you teach about things like Stone Wall as a social justice movement. That you, maybe not

on the social work side, but on the curriculum side, you add in more LGBTQ-friendly or LGBTQ focused books into English class.

Educating, advocating, and normalizing LGBTQ issues within the elementary and middle school setting, per the participants, was a significant way to better support young LGBTQ children. There are many barriers discussed by participants; however, opening up dialogue and being more inclusive across the entire school environment is as important as the individual or family work that a social worker does with their students. A few participants felt that there is a long way to go in regards to the school becoming a more open and accepting environment for LGBTQ children; however, recognizing the individual needs, increasing education across the board, and speaking up when you see something wrong can create a safer, more welcoming environment for all.

Unexpected Findings

The proliferation of bias and prejudicial attitudes towards the LGBTQ community have been studied and empirically recognized throughout modern history within everyday subtle and overt ways within the United States, as well as within the school systems (Atterberry-Ash et al., 2019; Higa et al., 2014; The Human Rights Campaign, 2019; Moe et al., 2015; National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2019; Palmer & Greytak, 2017). School social workers, as an identified significant support figure on educational campuses, must be able to address the needs of this vulnerable population and meet their needs adequately and appropriately (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018; NASW, 2017; Sherman, 2016). The participants discussed many barriers that often are faced by the elementary or middle

school social worker regularly when trying to provide these specific support services to young LGBTQ students.

One unexpected finding was that school social workers feel that one of the biggest barriers is education across the board for all school employees. The school social worker was recognized, by participants, as needing more in-depth prior education and current training on the specific support needs for working with LGBTQ clientele. The school social worker participants also noted that there seemed to be a trickle-down effect where education should be increased for administration such that they would then be able to better support teachers, which would then trickle down to creating a more open and welcoming environment and education for students and their parents or caregivers. Participants spoke on the inability to meet young LGBTQ students' needs appropriately if they do not have the knowledge from their former school of social work education or from ongoing education through CEUs. Though the participants mentioned more CEUs are being offered within the past few years, only a few discussed things they have learned that bring value to their work with young LGBTQ students. One participant who has worked previously in a high school setting specifically remarked that there is a lack of education and understanding in regards to administration and teachers within the elementary and middle school setting, reporting that she has never seen a truly successful, open environment for LGBTQ children in lower education schools only in higher education schools. It was surprising that participants focused so much on the administration barrier and the need to specifically educate admin teams and seek their buy-in before anything could change for the positive.

Another unexpected finding was the barrier of time, which was reported as one of the most significant barriers by all participants. The school social worker's many roles, paired with the specific support needs for young children that might identify as LGBTQ, were specifically seen as detriments to ensuring appropriate and adequate services were provided within the school setting. Multiple participants took this one step further and discussed the inability to refer students for outside services, which could supplement the increased provision of support for young LGBTQ students due to lack of resources for the LGBTQ population within the school setting and community. Without the time to adequately meet these vulnerable students' needs, on the individual, school, or community level, elementary and middle school settings are left feeling like unsafe places (see Savage & Schanding, 2013).

A final unexpected finding was the specific focus of multiple participants who discussed heteronormativity specifically regarding preschool and younger grade classrooms. Participants' specific examples of heteronormativity, as seen in the school, frequently targeted prekindergarten and elementary school-aged grades, more so than middle school grades. It is interesting to note that gender identity and sexual orientation identities are being developed and reinforced during these formative years of development, which can hijack students' social development due to fear, isolation, and emotional distress (see Kohlberg, 1966; Kulick et al., 2019). Societal differences and acceptance of older children versus younger children, in regards to their ability to identify their own sexuality and gender identity, was discussed in the literature review, which specifically was discussed in relation to parental acceptance, with one participant

reporting parents were more open and accepting of LGBTQ topics when their children were in middle school and beyond. Younger children's inability to accurately verbalize, due to lacking the words to describe the differences they felt, was brought up by multiple participants, which leaves a gap of support specifically for these even younger LGBTQ children.

Development of sexuality or gender identity is a challenge for young LGBTQ children, without specific supports, due to the overarching heteronormativity and homophobia of U.S. institutions (see Seelman et al., 2015). Social development is hijacked by identification as part of the LGBTQ community due to fear, isolation, and emotional distress that interrupt positive psychological and emotional well-being (Kulick et al., 2019). Identification of being nonheterosexual is typically left up to the individual, and the conversation has to start with the child feeling confident and comfortable to openly discuss this with their parents, friends, teachers, and community (Olson et al., 2019). Internalized conflict due to religiosity, confusion, and internalized homogeneity cloud the young LGBTQ child's ability to positively cope with their feelings and identification (Lytle et al., 2018).

Kohlberg (1966) discussed, in his theory of gender development, that children already identify whether they are male or female around three to five years of age. Ages six to seven encompass children's ability to delineate differences in males and females' behavioral and personality patterns (Kohlberg, 1966). These gender roles are fairly concrete and almost nonnegotiable in society. Gender roles explicitly direct how society determines a person is to act, think, desire, behave, and react (Kohlberg, 1966). Further,

because gender norms vary from society to society, culture to culture, these concepts are taught to children from birth and constructs how they will be expected to get along in society for the remainder of their lives. Children's own self-concepts, at a young age, will affect how their interpersonal relationships will be throughout their lifespan; thus, being different from others at a young age can thwart a child's ability to connect and maintain interpersonal relationships for the remainder of their lives (Beal, 1994; Seelman et al., 2015).

As children meet developmental milestones, they are increasingly moving towards independence and being prepared to be successful as community members; thus, children are being taught how to, when to, and where to look for right and wrong. At first, children learn to rely on adults for guidance and reassurance (Piaget, 1952; Postholm, 2019). Children typically enjoy socializing and learn to form larger friendship groups and work cooperatively with others and learn social skills through play, school work, and class lessons throughout the school environment (Huyder et al., 2015).

Development of an internalized, mature sense of right and wrong is developed around age 10, and children become increasingly able to think abstractly, moving from elementary to middle-school-age (Huyder et al., 2015). This development of self and identity is vastly different for heterosexual and nonheterosexual children; yet, schools teach everyone the same way, regardless of gender or sexual identity, and expect all children to develop towards a healthy, well-adjusted sense of self (see Klein et al., 2015).

Summary

The purpose of this qualitative inquiry was to explore the perceived barriers school social workers encounter when providing specific support services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. Specifically, while social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there seems to be some underresearched gap in how this is aligned or misaligned with the viewpoint of the educational system, which hinders their ability to fully meet the needs of this young LGBTO population (see Garbers et al., 2018). The participants were given space to openly discuss their perceived barriers when trying to provide specific support services to young LGBTQ children, along with educational challenges across the board, heteronormativity within the school setting and its impacts, professional and personal beliefs, culturally competent practice with this specific population, and positive societal advances and further avenues for support and advocacy. Because all six participants worked at a school setting that included both elementary and middle school students, it is hard to determine if developmental differences affect the discussed barriers with my selected study group. However, the majority of participants focused their discussions, regarding heteronormativity, specifically on examples from elementary-level grades.

The themes that emerged from the qualitative, semistructured interviews answer this study's research question, which was: What are the perceived barriers school social workers experience when providing services to young LGBTQ children, in elementary and middle school settings, in a southeast Louisiana school district? Specifically, participants were able to verbalize their perceived barriers regarding time, lack of

education specific to LGBTQ issues, heteronormativity being built into the educational system, administration barriers, parent barriers, teacher barriers, policies and procedures, and religiosity and political barriers. Section 4 will follow to provide applicability to professional ethics in social work practice and recommendations for social work practice based on findings. The usefulness, transferability, limitations, recommendations for further research, and dissemination plans will also be discussed.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The purpose of this qualitative inquiry was to explore the perceived barriers school social workers encounter when providing services to young LGBTO children in elementary and middle schools in a southeast Louisiana school district. Specifically, while social workers are trained to work in a multicultural world, there is an underresearched gap in practice between the licensed school social worker's education and ability to meet the needs of young LGBTQ students due to systemic issues within school systems in the United States, which creates barriers that can prevent the school social worker from providing these services to young LGBTQ children (Garbers et al., 2018). I used a purposive sample of six school social workers employed in Southeast Louisiana elementary or middle school settings. In this qualitative exploratory study, I used semistructured interview questions designed to gather data on perceived barriers that school social workers face when providing services to young LGBTQ students. This study supports the NASW (2017) Code of Ethics mission to ensure that equality and social justice advocacy is provided to these extremely vulnerable young people in society. This study also supports the tenants of cultural competency and advocacy and fulfills the urge for social workers to conduct empirically grounded research and disseminate information to further the knowledgebase of the field of social work.

The following themes emerged out of data collection: (a) social work education and understanding of heteronormativity, (b) heteronormativity and the school systems, (c) beliefs and values, (d) barriers, and (e) positives and what can be done. In the summary of findings, Section 3, I described school social workers' perceived barriers when

providing services to young LGBTQ children as well as highlighted the positive findings discussed by participants. These findings may assist in identifying what is going well in regards to this specific phenomenon and how social workers can further scaffold and build upon positive social change.

In Section 4, I describe the application for professional ethics in social work practice, recommendations for the social work field, implications for social change, and a summary of the research.

Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

This research study supports and promotes emancipation of societal heteronormative stances, advocacy, improved work with social work clients, dignity and worth of the individual, and improved practice through dissemination of knowledge to other practitioners (see NASW, 2017). To empower and promote enhanced well-being for young LGBTQ children, the school social worker can promote positive social justice and social change by facilitating the creation of an educational environment that satisfies the needs of all students and not just the majority members of society through emancipation and liberation of the societal heteronormative indoctrination that plagues modern day educational facilities (see Bohman, 1999; Horkheimer, 1972; NASW, 2017). Understanding the barriers to successful service provision with this specific population helps to guide social work practices by promoting positive social change by ensuring better support for all children in school systems, regardless of gender identity or sexual orientation.

This study promotes the professional value of competence by helping to recognize and contribute to the field using a strengths-based view of the barriers as well as by helping further promote better service provision for young LGBTQ students (see Craig & Furman, 2018; NASW, 2017). The dual view of promoting emancipation and social justice for young LGBTQ children as well as promoting a greater societal change in regards to the damaging effects of heteronormativity at the elementary and middle school level through the exploration of barriers for the school social worker that need to be addressed and mitigated to promote equality for all students meets the ethical principal of dignity and worth of the individual (see NASW, 2017; Urban & Kujinga, 2017). Investigating the barriers as perceived by the school social workers helps to display the misalignment between the educational facility's policies, procedures, and day-to-day operations with the school social workers' duty to protect all students and provide equal access to education without oppression in the elementary and middle school setting (see Austin et al., 2019).

Finally, this study supports the professional value to provide appropriate, educated, skillful service to disadvantaged members of society via the exploratory look at the barriers and specific needs of the social worker to better meet the needs of all clients to address the societal enforcement of oppression, marginalization, and erasure of LGBTQ bodies (see Kearns et al., 2017; NASW, 2017; Wagner & Crowley, 2020). School social workers do not work in isolation at the elementary and middle school setting. As part of an interdisciplinary team, this study supports this value of the profession by understanding the specific needs of young LGBTQ children as well as

school social worker to ensure that the social worker is able to meet professional and ethical obligations to participate and contribute to the multidisciplinary school team in ways to promote a more equitable and welcoming environment for all children (see NASW, 2017).

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

This study was intended to explore and inform elementary and middle school social workers on the perceived barriers to adequate service provision for the young LGBTQ population. School social workers are the school-to-home liaison, tasked with ensuring the mental health and wellbeing of all students on their school campus, regardless of their sexual orientation or gender identity (Sherman, 2016). Due to the overarching heteronormative stance of U.S. society and the indoctrination of societal norms throughout educational facilities, it is important to understand the barriers as a way to promote positive social change by building on what is going well for the school social worker in this area (Kulick et al., 2019; McBride & Schubotz, 2017). Social workers who provide services in a culturally competent, nonjudgmental way are able to engage with clientele with respect for the dignity and worth of the individual (NASW, 2017).

To meet the ethical principal of competence, social workers must ensure that they are knowledgeable in regards to the needs of their clientele (NASW, 2017). Social workers must ensure that they are practicing within the boundaries of their education and training; thus, competence starts with education. Former education within social work school, as well as research, careful professional judgement, and ongoing educational trainings through CEUs help the social worker to be competent and provide services that

promote the well-being of their clients. In regards to education, the participants in this study recommended that more is needed for school social workers who practice with young LGBTQ students, as they felt they were not formally trained to adequately meet the needs of this specific population. As one participant stated, very poignantly, "Education is key."

Despite almost all participants guessing correctly, five out of six, all but one participant stated that they had not previously heard the term "heteronormativity," further leading to the finding that education surrounding LGBTQ issues needs to be adequately addressed by schools of social work, prior to field work, as well as CEU trainings, ongoing. All six participants noted a lack of LGBTQ-specific education prior to field work as being a barrier to LGBTQ student service provision. Along with the social work field as a whole focusing more on education regarding LGBTQ issues, school social workers are specifically trained differently than other professionals in a school building and thus should ensure that they have the training and education to specifically advocate for this vulnerable population as part of the school's interdisciplinary team (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018; NASW, 2017). Participants noted the need for school social workers to help educate and train other school staff, teachers, and administration, specifically on providing a safe, secure, and welcoming environment for young LGBTQ children. School social workers can provide professional development trainings to staff specifically on how to work with children who may identify as LGBTQ, how to reduce stigma and bias in their classrooms, how to create safe and supportive classrooms, and how to better alleviate fears and isolation for their young LGBTQ students.

Participants mentioned that heteronormativity is a barrier that is built into the educational system, specifically in the formative years, younger grade-levels. Specifically, participants mentioned prekindergarten and kindergarten classrooms as the main areas of indoctrinating societal heteronormative views by delegating who can and cannot play with specific toys; how the teacher greets and separates students based on gender; and how boys and girls should behave, dress, and socialize. Researchers have indicated that schools are the key environment in which children are ridiculed, harassed, and victimized for their young LGBTQ identities (Atterberry-Ash et al., 2019; Seelman et al., 2015). Kull et al. (2016) described that heteronormativity built into the educational institution creates an atmosphere that is hostile for LGBTQ children. Without specific protection, young LGBTQ children are bullied and victimized at higher rates than their heterosexual peers, which results in increased suicidal ideation, increased suicide attempts, internalized discord, depression, shame, anger, fear, vulnerability, depression, grief, avoidance of school and other environments, isolation, increase risky sexual activity, and increased drug and substance usage (Ali & Barden, 2015; McCormick et al., 2015).

The school social worker provides mental health services, policy advocacy, education, and resource linkage to students and families. Participants discussed society becoming more accepting and younger generations of children being more open and welcoming, which is a positive move towards social change; however, participants stated there is still work to be done on the school level in general. School social workers can promote better antibiased school settings with advocacy for LGBTQ issues with

administration, policy makers, and school district leaders. Breaking down stereotypes and beliefs of privilege based on one's group identification is necessary to combat the societal injustices toward people who are different than themselves.

Social workers are ethically bound, through the profession's mission, to enhance human well-being, specifically focused on the needs of those who are vulnerable or oppressed (NASW, 2017). Advocating for the betterment of human well-being requires a social worker to advocate on behalf of others who frequently identify with differing life events and circumstances than themselves. School social workers should work as allies for young LGBTQ children by encouraging nonjudgmental discourse with others, be that students, faculty, administration, or parents (Cooper & Lesser, 2015).

Alliance building, by itself, does not have the power to elicit change. Social workers also need to work with policymakers and lawyers to provide testimonials to humanize the often antiquated and complex legal concepts that degrade and make minorities invisible to those in power, such as heteronormativity (Federico, 2013). According to LaMantia, Wagner, and Bohecker (2015), becoming an ally requires competency in working with others who are different from yourself, recognizing similarities with your plights and worldview, and promoting diversity and inclusionary policies for all. Learning what others have or are going through in their daily lives is key to advocating on their behalf for the things that need to change as they see them.

Participants noted that time, policies and procedures, administration, teachers, and parents could all be barriers to appropriate service provision for young LGBTQ students.

By continuing to advocate for those who are disenfranchised by society, social workers

can speak up and provide research and empirically gathered data to become a broker of change towards social justice and policy reform (see Eagly, 2016). Shared knowledge regarding the barriers, which all can be summarized into more education needed for everyone, school social workers can act as change agents and social advocates for young LGBTQ children by opening up a dialogue to help normalize the LGBTQ experience at all school levels, recognize the individual needs of every child, and educate the world.

Usefulness of the Findings

This study's findings aid in the school social worker's ability to navigate the barriers of working with young LGBTQ children. Because social workers are documented as providing more mental health services to all groups of disadvantaged individuals over all other allied health professionals, school social workers must be able to meet the needs of this specific population (see Craig et al., 2016). There is a dearth of literature regarding school social workers and the provision of services for young LGBTQ populations in the United States, and this study provides a foundational exploration to expand the research base of practice knowledge further.

The results of this study allow me to be able to speak on the barriers and gaps in services that are faced by school social workers and their young LGBTQ clientele in Southeast Louisiana to become a broker of positive social change and disseminate information to other social workers in the field to advance the knowledgebase for all practitioners further. The findings that LGBTQ-specific education is lacking for all professionals within the educational system open the door for the field of social work, with a foundational focus on alleviating barriers to well-being, to be the change in their

respective agencies, organizations, and settings. Thus, social workers can examine and advocate for LGBTQ-inclusive policies, educate all stakeholders, and promote a more inclusive and supportive environment for all people regardless of gender identity or sexual orientation.

Transferability of the Findings

This study was specific to school social work practice, in elementary and middle school settings in Southeast Louisiana, and therefore is not generalizable. However, the findings can be shared with the social work profession to address critical gaps in practice specific to working with young LGBTQ children and facilitate further focused research and work in the field. This qualitative research study had a group of six study participants who specifically work in elementary and middle school settings in Southeast Louisiana; thus, finings can be used to help expand clinicians' knowledge about the barriers and what could best support young LGBTQ children within their practice setting.

Limitations of the Findings

This study's limitations are due to the specific geographic location, Southeast Louisiana, paired with the small, purposive sample size (N = 6) of elementary and middle school social workers; thus, results may not be generalized to all social work practices with young LGBTQ children. External validity for this study is limited; however, based on the detailed description of the methodology, participant inclusion criteria, instrumentation, and data analysis; other social work researchers may replicate the design of this study; however, results with different populations may have different outcomes. All participants of this study were licensed social workers, working as a school social

worker as a school district employee within Louisiana. Thus, dependent on state licensure requirements and worksite, results may not be generalizable to all school social workers who may work for agencies and are contracted by the school as they may have different job roles, responsibilities, and duties.

Another limitation of this study was that with the purposeful, homogenous sample, and geographic specificity, I chose not to gather demographic information to increase participants' confidentiality and anonymity. Future research studies may find the ability to examine years of experience, educational degree, or other demographic information to be necessary for comparison or investigation of the chosen phenomenon. Finally, because all six participants worked in a school setting that included both elementary and middle school students, this study was unable to determine if some barriers may be more prevalent in the work of an elementary school social worker or a middle school social worker. Further research to delineate if developmental differences between elementary-age and middle-school-age children create different barriers for the school social worker is recommended; however, most participants did discuss barriers concerning younger grade children specifically.

Recommendations for Further Research

There is a lack of knowledge on the perceived barriers school social workers face when providing specific services to meet young LGBTQ children's needs. Social workers are prepared, through their education, to work within the multicultural world; however, some barriers preclude them from being able to provide services that adequately meet the needs of LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings. Research is

recommended to gain further data and understanding of school social workers' perspectives on the barriers to providing adequate services to young LGBTQ children within elementary and middle school settings outside of Southeast Louisiana. Further research is also recommended to include school social workers who may work for agencies that contract their employees to school sites to determine if they have different job duties, roles, and responsibilities that alter their perceptions of the barriers faced when providing services to young LGBTQ children.

Dissemination of the Research

Dissemination this research project's findings will be through a multipronged approach as a way to advance the theoretical understanding and knowledgebase of the field of social work. As part of Walden University's social change mission, I plan to make the final paper and results available to the community and stakeholders covered by this study following degree conferment. A 1-2-page summary, including procedures, topics, background, and findings, will be made available to all stakeholders at that time. This summary will be brief and digestible for stakeholders, in this case, school social workers, to understand and hopefully incorporate into their everyday practice considerations when working with young LGBTQ students. Also, I plan to submit the results of this study to a peer-reviewed social work journal for publication to further the knowledgebase of the field of social work in supporting young LGBTQ students in schools. This plan is in an effort to support school social workers, as understanding the barriers to providing specific supports to young LGBTQ youth creates greater social change through the work school social workers do with students daily, on a quest to

create an atmosphere of safety and support for all students to have equal access to education.

Implications for Social Change

Positive social change is the purposeful process of coordinating efforts to promote greater equality, dignity, and enhancement of life for those who are disadvantaged by society (Thomas et al., 2009; Walden University, 2015; Walden University, 2017). This study's results contribute to the betterment of society through a greater understanding of the unique perceived barriers that may preclude school social workers, in elementary and middle schools, from providing adequate services to young LGBTQ members. This qualitative exploratory research study has promise for positive social change by contributing to the social work knowledge base on school social workers' perceived barriers when providing services to young LGBTQ children. Good qualitative research is comprehensive in nature and allows a greater ability to observe and understand a social phenomenon more completely in the natural, real-world setting (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). As science is thought of as both a body of knowledge and a process, qualitative studies allow investigation of ongoing realities that cannot be predicted in advance (see Rubin & Babbie, 2013; Smith, 1984).

This qualitative exploratory study can contribute to the field of social work in relation to practice, research, and policy due to the rich data and descriptions provided. School social workers provide mental health services and ensure that all academic barriers are removed for students to be successful at school (Palmer & Greytak, 2017). Young LGBTQ-student service provision is underresearched, and education on this

specific population is lacking for social workers as schools of social work, themselves, exist within a historically heteronormative environment (see Craig et al., 2018; Dentato et al., 2016). Social work education on the understanding of the cycle of coming out process, as well as the ethics involved in working with clients who may not understand their identity yet, is important and could help improve the ability of the school social worker to improve rejection of the status quo on their school campuses to help emancipate and overcome the steadfast adherence to heteronormativity.

Understanding the perceived barriers discussed within this study can help shed light on the biggest obstacles school social workers state they face in working with young LGBTQ children. To better combat the barriers of gender identity and sexual orientation inequities within school policies, school social workers could seek out and be equipped to better train faculty and staff members and all stakeholders who play a role in school policy creation and enforcement. Finally, school social workers who work with young LGBTQ children can understand that the impotence is on working with a top-down approach to help support the individual LGBTQ-identifying child. School social workers can create a safe space for a child; however, if the whole school is not a safe space, then no space is a safe space. This study provides a greater understanding of how heteronormativity is embedded into the school culture and climate to equip the school social worker to better recognize and respond to the young LGBTQ students' unique needs.

Summary

Schools are a microcosm of society that indoctrinate heteronormativity such that young LGBTQ-identifying children are marginalized, discriminated against, and completely forgotten or negated daily. Social workers are trained to work within the multicultural world; however, some barriers inhibit their ability to meet the unique support needs of young LGBTQ students within U.S. elementary and middle school settings. LGBTQ children are reminded that they are "less than" their heterosexual peers daily via messages they hear from peers, teachers, administration, policies, and procedures. LGBTQ children face pervasive negative factors, such as increased risk to self-harm, increased susceptibility for suicidal ideation, increased associations with homelessness either by force or by fear, increased risk-taking behaviors, and decreased supportive services that contribute to disparities in their overall mental and physical health and well-being. This study examined school social workers' perceived barriers when providing services to young LGBTQ children in elementary and middle school settings to challenge societies' hostile, unsafe, and harmful school environments. The school social worker participants for this study voiced dedication and desire to help young LGBTQ children within the school setting, despite barriers and obstacles they perceived as impeding their ability to do so adequately. Eight major barriers were discussed: (a) time, (b) lack of LGBTQ-specific education, (c) heteronormativity built into the school system, (d) administration, teacher, and parental barriers, (e) children's understanding and ability to express themselves, (f) policies and procedures, (g) geographic location barriers, and (h) religiosity and political barriers. Participants

collectively voiced concern with the lack of education across the board for all persons within the educational arena (administration, teachers, parents, students, policymakers, and social workers).

References

- Abrams, L. S., & Moio, J. A. (2009). Critical race theory and the cultural competence dilemma in social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 45(2), 245-261. doi:10.5175/JSWE.2009.200700109
- Abreu, R. L., Black, W. W., Mosley, D. V., & Fedewa, A. L. (2016). LGBTQ youth bullying experiences in schools: The role of school counselors within a system of oppression. *Journal of Creativity in Mental Health*, 11(3-4), 325-342. doi:10.1080/15401383.2016.1214092
- Ali, S., & Barden, S. (2015). Considering the cycle of coming out: Sexual minority identity development. *The Professional Counselor*, *5*(4), 501-515. doi:10.15241/sa.5.4.501
- Allen, L. (2015). Picturing queer at school. *Journal of LGBTQ Youth, 12*(4), 367-384. doi:10.1080/19361653.2015.1077766
- Allen, V. D., & Solomon, P. (2016). EVIP—Edutainment violence intervention/prevention model. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 26(3-4), 325-335. doi:10.1080/10911359.2015.1129251
- Ambrose-Miller, W., & Ashcroft, R. (2016). Challenges faced by social workers as members of interprofessional collaborative health care teams. *Health & Social Work, 41*(2), 101-109. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlw006
- Atterberry-Ash, B., Speer, S. R., Kattari, S. K., & Kinney, M. K. (2019). Does it get better? LGBTQ social work students and experiences with harmful discourse.

- Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services, 31(2), 223-241. doi:10.1080/10538720.1568337
- Austin, A., Craig, S. L., Dentato, M. P., Roseman, S., & McInroy, L. (2019). Elucidating transgender students' experiences of microaggressions in social work programs:

 Next steps for creating inclusive educational contexts. *Social Work Education*,

 38(7), 909-924. doi:10.1080/02615479.2019.1575956
- Babbie, E. (2017). *The basics of social research* (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigor in qualitative research.

 Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36-42. doi:10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830
- Balsam, K. F., Beadnell, B., & Molina, Y. (2013). The daily heterosexist experiences questionnaire: Measuring minority stress among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender adults. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development,* 46(1), 3-25. doi:10.1177/0748175612449743
- Barusch, A., Gringeri, C., & George, M. (2011). Rigor in qualitative social work research: A review of strategies used in published articles. *Social Work Research*, *35*(1), 11-19. doi:10.1093/swr/35.1.11
- Beal, C. (1994). Boys and girls: The development of gender roles. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Bearman, M. (2019). Focus on methodology: Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semi-structured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Educator*, 20(3), 1-11. doi:10.11157/fohpe.v20i3.387

- Belous, C. K., Wampler, R. S., & Warmels-Herring, T. (2015). Gay male adaptation in the coming-out process. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 19(1), 55-71. doi:10.1080/19359705.2014.921265
- Bialer, P. A., & McIntosh, C. A. (2016). Discrimination, stigma, and hate: The impact on the mental health and well-being of LGBT people. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian*Mental Health, 20(4), 297-298. doi:10.1080/19359705.2016.1211887
- Birkett, M., Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2015). Does it get better? A longitudinal analysis of psychological distress and victimization in lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(3), 280-285. doi:10.1016/j.adohealth.2014.10.275
- Bohman, J. (1991). *New philosophy of social science: Problems of indeterminacy*.

 Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Bohman, J. (1997). *Public deliberation: Pluralism, complexity and democracy*.

 Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Bohman, J. (1999). A pragmatic interpretation of critical social science. *Philosophy of the Social Sciences*, 29(4), 459-480. doi:10.1177/004839319902900401
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Baltimore, MD: Laureate Publishing.

- Cerezo, A., & Bergfeld, J. (2013). Meaningful LGBTQ inclusion in schools: The importance of diversity representation and counterspaces. *Journal of LGBTQ Issues in Counseling*, 7(4), 355-371. doi:10.1080/15538605.2013.839341
- Cheng, H. (2005). Critical theory. In L. Salinger (Ed.). *Encyclopedia of white-collar & corporate crime* (pp. 232-233). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2018). *Research methods in education* (8th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MedSurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435-436. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgibin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Cooper, M., & Lesser, J. G. (2015). *Clinical social work practice: An integrated approach.* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Craig, S. L., Dentato, M. P., Messinger, L., & McInroy, L. B. (2016). Educational determinants of readiness to practice with LGBTQ clients: Social work students speak out. *British Journal of Social Work, 46*(1), 115-134. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcu107
- Craig, S. L., & Furman, E. (2018). Do marginalized youth experience strengths in strengths-based interventions? Unpacking program acceptability through two interventions for sexual and gender minority youth. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 44(2), 168-179. doi:10.1080/014883762018.1436631
- Craig, S. L., McInroy, L. B., & Austin, A. (2018). "Someone to have my back":

 Exploring the needs of racially and ethnically diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual, and

- transgender high school students. *Children & Schools*, 40(4), 231-239. doi:10.1093/cs/cdy016
- Cyr, J. (2015). The pitfalls and promise of focus groups as a data collection method. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 45(2), 231-259. doi:10.1177/0049124115570065
- Dentato, M. P., Craig, S. L., Lloyd, M. R., Kelly, B., Wright, C., & Austin, A. (2016). Homophobia within schools of social work: The critical need for affirming classroom settings and effective preparations for service with LGBTQ community. *Social Work Education*, *35*(6), 672-692. doi:10.1081/02615479.2016.1150452
- Dessel, A. B., Kulick, A., Wernick, L. J., & Sullivan, D. (2017). The importance of teacher support: Differential impacts by gender and sexuality. *Journal of Adolescence*, *56*, 136-144. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.02.002
- Dinkins, E. G., & Englert, P. (2015). LGBTQ literature in middle school classrooms:

 Possibilities for challenging heteronormative environments. *Sex Education*, *15*(4), 392-405. doi:10.1080/1481811.2015.1030012
- Drechsler, K., Hessenauer, S., & Jaber-Wilson, L. (2020). Engaging in diversity and difference in practice competency: Exploring the explicit curriculum and outcome measures of graduate social work programs. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 56(2), 341-353. doi:10.1080/10437797.2019.1656571

- Eagly, A. H. (2016). When passionate advocates meet research on diversity, does the honest broker stand a chance? *Journal of Social Issues*, 72(1), 199-222. doi:10.111/josi.12163
- Federico, R. (2013). Lifting the "lamp beside the golden door": An argument for immigration reform, advocacy, and transformation through testimonios. *Berkeley La Raza Law Journal*, 23, 3-34. doi:10.15779/Z38PQ19
- Fields, E. L., Bogart, L. M., Smith, K. C., Malebranche, D. J., Ellen, J., & Schuster, M. A. (2015). "I always felt I had to prove my manhood": Homosexuality, masculinity, gender role strain, and HIV risk among young black men who have sex with men. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(1), 122-131. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301866
- Finigan-Carr, N. M., & Shaia, W. E. (2018). School social workers as partners in the school mission. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 99(7), 26-30. doi:10.1177/0031721718767856
- Francis, D. A., & Reygan, F. (2016). 'Let's see if it won't go away by itself.' LGBT microaggressions among teachers in South Africa. *Education as Change*, 20(3), 180-201. doi:10.17159/9417/2016/1124
- Fredman, A. J., Schultz, N. J., & Hoffman, M. F. (2015). "You're moving a frickin' big ship": The challenges of addressing LGBTQ topics in public schools. *Education in Urban Society*, 47(1), 56-85. doi:10.1177/0013124513496457
- Garbers, S., Heck, C. J., Gold, M. A., Santelli, J. S., & Bersamin, M. (2018). Providing culturally competent care for LGBTQ youth in school-based health centers: A

- needs assessment to guide quality of care improvements. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *34*(6) 424-429. doi:10.1177/1059840517727335
- Gegenfutner, A., & Gebhardt, M. (2017). Sexuality education including lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) issues in schools. *Educational Research*Review, 22, 215-222. doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2017.10.002
- Graybill, E. C., & Proctor, S. L. (2016). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth:

 Limited representation in school support personnel journals. *Journal of School Psychology*, *54*, 9-16. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2015.11.001
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Habermas, J. (1984). *The theory of communicative action* (Vol. 1). Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, *38*(3), 641-646. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Hartwell, E. E., Serovich, J. M., Reed, S. J., Boisvert, D., & Falbo, T. (2017). A systematic review of gay, lesbian, and bisexual research samples in couple and family therapy journals. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 43*(3), 482-501. doi:10.111/jmft.12220
- Herek, G. M., & McLemore, K. A. (2013). Sexual prejudice. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64(1), 309-333. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143826

- Higa, D., Hoppe, M. J., Lindhorst, T., Mincer, S., Beadnell, B., Morrison, D. M., ...
 Mountz, S. (2014). Negative and positive factors associated with the well-being of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning (LBGTQ) youth. *Youth & Society*, 46(5), 663-687. doi:10.1177/0044118X12449630
- Hoang, A. P. (2019). Regulating sexual and gender minority youth: Heteronormativity through Hong Kong schooling. *China Journal of Social Work, 12*(2), 140-154. doi:10.1080/17525098.2019.1690206
- Horkheimer, M. (1972). Critical theory. New York, NY: Seabury Press.
- Horkheimer, M. (1993). *Between philosophy and social sciences*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- The Human Rights Campaign. (2019). *Growing up LGBT in America*. Retrieved March 17, 2019 from https://www.hrc.org/youth-report/view-and-share-statistics
- Hunter, L. (2019). What a queer space is HPE, or is it yet? Queer theory, sexualities and pedagogy. *Sport, Education, and Society, 24*(1), 1-12. doi:10.1080.13573322.2017.1302416
- Huyder, V., Nilsen, E. S., & Bacso, S. A. (2015). The relationship between children's executive functioning, theory of mind, and verbal skills with their own and others' behaviour in a cooperative context: Changes in relationships from early to middle school-age. *Infant and Child Development*, 26(6), 1-22. doi:10.1002/icd.2027
- Ingraham, C. (1994). The heterosexual imaginary: Feminist sociology and theories of gender. *Sociological Theory*, *12*(2), 203-219. doi:10.2307/201865

- Ioverno, S., Belser, A. B., Baiocco, R., Grossman, A. H., & Russell, S. T. (2019). The protective role of gay-straight alliances for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and questioning students: A prospective analysis. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, *3*(4), 397-406. doi:10.1037/sgd0000193
- Isaksson, C., & Larsson, A. (2017). Jurisdiction in school social workers' and teachers' work for pupils' well-being. *Education Inquiry*, 8(3), 246-261. doi:10.1080/20004508.2017.131828
- Jani, J. S., Osteen, P., & Shipe, S. (2016). Cultural competence and social work education: Moving toward assessment of practice behaviors. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *52*(3), 311-324. doi:10.1080/1047797.2016.1174634
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). Qualitative research in pharmacy education: A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research.

 *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 84(1), 138-146.

 doi:10.5688/ajpe7120
- Jones, T. (2016). Education policies: Potential impacts and implications in Australia and beyond. *Journal of LGBT Youth, 13*(1/2), 141-160. doi:10.1080/19361653.2015.1087926
- Joyce, H. D. (2015). School connectedness and student-teacher relationships: A comparison of sexual minority youths and their peers. *Children & Schools*, *37*(3), 185-192. doi:10.1093/cs/cdv012
- Kallio, H., Pietlä, A. -M., Johnson, M., & Kangasneimi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured

- interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *72*(12), 2954-2965. doi: 10.111/jan.13031
- Kearns, L. -L., Mitton-Kükner, J., & Tompkins, J. (2017). Transphobia and cisgender privilege: Pre-service teachers recognizing and challenging gender rigidity in schools. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 40(1), 1-27. Retrieved from http://www.csse-scee.ca
- Klein, K., Holtby, A., Cook, K., & Travers, R. (2015). Complicating the coming out narrative: Becoming oneself in a heterosexist and cissexist world. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 62(3), 297-326. doi:10.1080/00918369.2014.970829
- Knutson, D., Koch, J. M., Sneed, J., Lee, A., & Chung, M. (2020). An exploration of gender from the perspective of cisgender male drag queens. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 29(3), 325-337. doi:10.1080/09589236.2019.1668260
- Kohlberg, L. (1966). A cognitive-development analysis of children's sex-role concepts and attitudes. In E. Maccoby (Ed.), *The development of sex differences* (pp. 82-173). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Kosciw, J. G., Greytak, E. A., Bartkiewicz, M. J., Boesen, M. J., & Palmer, N. A. (2012).

 The 2011 National School Climate Survey: The experiences of lesbian, gay,
 bisexual, and transgender youth in our nation's schools. New York, NY: GLSEN.
 Retrieved March 16, 2019 from
 http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=92562326
- Kosciw, J. G., Palmer, N. A., & Kull, R. M. (2015). Reflecting resiliency: Openness about sexual orientation and/or gender identity and its relationship to our well-

- being and educational outcomes for LGBT students. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 55(1/2), 167-178. doi:10.1007/s10464-014-9642-6
- Kulick, A., Wernick, L. J., Espinoza, M. A. V., Newman, T. J., & Dessel, A. B. (2019).
 Three strikes and you're out: Culture, facilities, and participation among LGBTQ youth in sports. *Sport, Education, and Society, 24*(9), 939-953.
 doi:10.1080/13573322.2018.1532406
- Kull, R. M., Greytak, E. A., Kosciw, J. G., & Villenas, C. (2016). Effectiveness of school distric antibullying policies in improving LGBT youths' school climate.
 Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity, 3(4), 407-415.
 doi:10.1037/sgd0000196
- Kvam, V. (2018). Compulsory school attendance as a child welfare initiative: The socio-political function of education legislation with respect to vulnerable children in Norway, 1814-1900. *History of Education*, 47(5), 587-610. doi:10.1080/0046760X.2018.1430866
- LaMantia, K., Wagner, H., & Bohecker, L. (2015). Ally development through feminist pedagogy: A systematic focus on intersectionality. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 9(2). 136-153. doi:10.1080/15538605.2015.1029205
- Lannutti, P. J. (2018). GLBTQ people who decided to marry after the 2016 U.S. election:

 Reasons for and meanings of marriage. *Journal of GBTQ Family Studies, 14*(1/2),
 85-100. doi:10.1080/1550428X.2017.1420846
- Larson, R. B. (2018). Controlling social desirability bias. *Interational Journal of Market Resaerch*, 61(5), 534-547. doi:10.1177/1470785318805305

- Lasio, D., Serri, F., Ibba, I., & Manuel De Oliveira, J. (2019). Hegemony and heteronormativity: Homonormative discourses of LGBTQ activists about lesbian and gay parenting. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 66(8). 1058-1081. doi:10.1080/00918369.2018.1493252
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lytle, M. C., Blosnich, J. R., De Luca, S. M., & Brownson, C. (2018). Association of religiosity with sexual minority suicide ideation and attempt. *America Journal of Preventative Medicine*, *54*(5), 644-651. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.019
- Marrow, D. F. (1993). Social work with gay and lesbian adolescents. *Social Work, 38,* 655-660. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/sw
- Marx, R. A., & Kettrey, H. H. (2016). Gay-straight alliances are associated with lower-levels of school-based victimization of LGBTQ+ youth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, *45*(7), 1269-1282. doi:10.1007/s10964-016-0501-7
- McBride, R. -S., & Schubotz, D. (2017). Living a fairy tale: The educational experiences of transgender non-conforming youth in Northern Ireland. *Child Care in Practice*, 23(3), 292-304. doi:10.1080/13575279.2017.1299112
- McCormick, A., Schmidt, K., & Clifton, E. (2015). Gay-straight alliances: Understanding their impact on the academic and social experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning high school students. *Children & Schools, 37*(2), 71-77. doi:10.1093/cs/cdu028

- McIntyre, E. M., Baker, C. N., & Overstreet, S. (2019). Evaluating foundational professional development training for trauma-informed approaches in schools. *Psychological Services*, 16(1), 95-102. doi:10.1037/ser00000312
- Meyer, D. Z., & Avery, L. M. (2009). Excel as a qualitative data analysis tool. *Field Methods*, 21(1), 91-112. doi:10.1177/1525822X08323985
- Meyer, E. J., Quantz, M., Taylor, C., & Peter, T. (2019). Elementary teachers' experiences with LGBTQ-inclusive education: Addressing fears with knowledge to improve confidence and practices. *Theory into Practice*, *58*(1), 6-17.

 Doi:10.1080/00405841.2018.1536922
- Meyer, K., & Willis, R. (2018). Looking back to move forward: The value of reflexive journaling for novice researchers. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work, 62*(4), 1-8. doi:10.1080/01634372.2018.1559906
- Michaels, M. S., Parent, M. C., & Torrey, C. L. (2016). A minority stress model for suicidal ideation in gay men. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 46(1), 23-34. doi:10.111/sltb.12169
- Miller, L. R., & Grollman, E. A. (2015). The social costs of gender nonconformity for transgender adults: Implications for discrimination and health. *Sociological Forum*, 30(3), 809-831. doi:10.1111/socf.12193
- Moe, J., Bacon, K., & Leggett, E. (2015). School counselors as allies: The relationship between sexual orientation competence and open and affirming service for LGBTQ youth. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, *9*(2), 74-91. doi:10.1080/15538605.2015.1029206

- National Alliance on Mental Illness. (2019). *LGBTQ*. Retrieved from https://www.nami.org/Find-Support/LGBTQ
- National Association of Social Workers. (2015). *Standards and indicators for cultural competence in social work practice*. Washington, DC: NASW Press.
- National Association of Social Workers. (2017). *Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers*. Washington, DC: NASW Press.
- Negozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology:

 Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology, 4*(1), 19-28. doi:10.12973/ijem.4.1.19
- Olson, K. R., Blotner, C., Alonso, D., Lewis, K., Edwards, D., & Durwood, L. (2019). Family discussions of early childhood social transitions. *Child Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, 7(3), 229-240. doi:10.1037/cpp0000289
- Pack, M., & Brown, P. (2017). Educating on anti-oppressive practice with gender and sexual minority elders: Nursing and social work perspectives. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 29*(2), 108-118. Retrieved from https://anzswjournal.nz/anzsw
- Palmer, N. A., & Greytak, E. A. (2017). LGBTQ student victimization and its relationship to school discipline and justice system involvement. *Criminal Justice Review*, 42(2), 163-187. doi:10.1177/0734016817704698
- Papadaki, V. (2016). Invisible students: Experiences of lesbian and gay students in social work education in Greece. *Social Work Education*, *35*(1), 65-77. doi:10.1080/02615479.1085502

- Parker, K. D., Dickens, K. N., & Herlihy, B. (2019). Re-authoring to reconcile religious beliefs with affectional orientation: A narrative study. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 13(2), 94-113. doi:10.1080/15538605.2019.1597817
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Chapter 5, Module 30: Purposeful sampling and case selection:

 Overview of strategies and options. In *Qualitative research and evaluation*methods (4th ed., pp. 264-315). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Piaget, J. (1952). *Origins of intelligence in the child*. New York, NY: International Universities Press, Inc.
- Porta, C. M., Gower, A. L., Mehus, C. J., Yu, X., Saewyc, E. M., & Eisenberg, M. E. (2017). "Kicked out": LGBTQ youths' bathroom experiences and preferences. *Journal of Adolescence*, 56, 107-112. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.02.005
- Postholm, M. B. (2019). The school leader's role in school-based development. *Educational Research*, 61(4), 437-450. doi:10.1080/00131881.1677171
- Poteat, V. P., Heck, N. C., Yoshikawa, H., & Calzo, J. P. (2017). Gay-straight alliances as settings to discuss health topics: Individual and group factors associated with substance use, mental health, and sexual health discussions. *Health Education Research*, 32(3), 258-268. doi:10.1093/her/cyx044
- Przeworki, A., & Wallerstein, M. (1988). Structural dependence of the state on capital. *American Political Science Review*, 82(1), 11-29. doi:10.2307/1958056
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Robinson, J. P., & Espelage, D. L. (2012). Bullying explains only part of the LGBTQ-heterosexual risk disparities: Implications for policy and practice. *Educational Researcher*, 41(8), 309-319. doi:10.13012/0012189X12457023
- Robinson, M. A., Cross-Denny, B., Lee, K. K., Werkmeister Rozas, L. M., & Yamada,
 A. -M. (2016). Teaching note Teaching intersectionality: Transforming Cultural
 Competence Content in Social Work Education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 52(4), 509-517. doi:10.1080.10437797.2016.119827
- Roen, K. (2016). The body as a site of gender-related distress. Ethical considerations for gender variant youth in clinical settings. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 63(3), 306-322. doi:10.1080/00918369.2016.1124688
- Rosenblum, K. E., & Travis, T. C. (2016). The meaning of difference: American constructions of race and ethnicity, sex and gender, social class, sexuality, and disability (7th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. (2013). *Essential research methods for social work.* (3rd ed.). Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rutherford, K., McIntyre, J., Daley, A., & Ross, L. E. (2012). Development of expertise in mental health service provision for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender communities. *Medical Education*, 46(9), 903-913. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04272.x

- Ryan, C. L., & Hermann-Wilmarth, J. M. (2018). *Reading the rainbow*. New York, NY: GLSEN & Teachers College Press.
- Saladaña, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sandowski, M. (2017). Safe is not enough: Better schools for LGBTQ students.

 Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Savage, T. A., & Schanding, G. T. (2013). Creating and maintaining safe and responsive schools for lesbian, gay bisexual, transgender, and queer youths: Introduction to special issue. *Journal of School Violence*, *12*(1), 1-6. doi:10.1080/15388220.2112.7214357
- Seelman, K. L., Forge, N., Walls, N. E., & Bridges, N. (2015). School engagement among LGBTQ high school students: The role of safe adults and gay-straight alliance characteristics. *Children and Youth Services Review, 57*, 19-29. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.07.021
- Seidman, I. (2012). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College.
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75. doi:10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Sherman, M. C. (2016). The school social worker: A marginalized commodity within the school ecosystem. *Children & Schools*, *38*(3), 147-151. doi:10.1093/cs/cdw016

- Small, E., Nikolova, S. P., & Sharma, B. B. (2017). Cultural competency in the global setting: Are social work students prepared to serve in a culturally diverse world? *British Journal of Social Work, 47*(3), 666-682. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcw050
- Smith, J., & Firth, J. (2011). Qualitative data analysis: The framework approach. *Nurse Researcher*, 18(2), 52-62. doi:10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.52.c8284
- Smith, J. K. (1984). The problem of criteria for judging interpretive inquiry. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *6*(4), 379-391. doi:10.3102/01623737006004379
- Snapp, S. D., Hoenig, J. M., Fields, A., & Russell, S. T. (2015). Messy, butch, and queer: LGBTQ youth and the school-to-prison pipeline. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 30(1), 57-82. doi:10.1177/0743558414557625
- Spall, S. (1998). Peer debriefing in qualitative research: Emerging operational models.

 *Qualitative Inquiry, 4(2), 280-292. doi:10.1177/107780049800400208
- Stahl, B., Doherty, N., Shaw, M., & Janicke, H. (2014). Critical theory as an approach to the ethics of information security. *Science & Engineering Ethics*, 20(3), 675-699. doi:10.1007/s11948-013-9496-6
- Suen, L. W., Lunn, M. R., Katuzny, K., Finn, S., Duncan, L., Sevelius, J., ... Obedin-Maliver, J. (2020). What sexual and gender minority people want researchers to know about sexual orientation and gender identity questions: A qualitative study. Archives of Sexual Behavior 49, 2301-2318. doi:10.1007/s10508-020-01810-y
- Thomas, E. F., McGarty, C., & Mavor, K. I. (2009). Transforming "apathy into movement": The role of prosocial emotions in motivating action for social

- change. *Personality & Social Psychology Review, 13*(4), 310-333. doi:10.1177/1088868309343290
- Toma, J. D. (2011). Approaching rigor in applied qualitative research. In C. Conrad & R. Serlin (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook for research in education: Pursuing ideas as the keystone of exemplary inquiry* (2nd ed., pp. 405-423). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Ullman, J., & Ferfolja, T. (2015). Bureaucratic constructions of sexual diversity:
 "Sensitive", "controversial" and silencing. *Teaching Education*, 26(2), 145-159.
 doi:10.1080/1047621.2014.959487
- Urban, B., & Kujinga, L. (2017). Towards social change: South African university students as social entrepreneurs. *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 31(1), 243-359. doi:10.20853/31-1-872
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100-110. doi:10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Van Den Bergh, N., & Crisp, C. (2004). Defining culturally competent practice with sexual minorities: Implications for social work education and practice. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 40(2), 221-238. doi:10.1080/10437797.2004.10778491
- Wagaman, M. A., Obejero, R. A., & Gregory, J. S. (2018). Countering the norm, (re)authoring our lives: The promise counterstorytelling holds as a research methodology with LGBTQ youth and beyond. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-11. doi:10.1177/1609406918800646

- Wagner, T. L., & Crowley, A. (2020). Why are the bathrooms inclusive if the stacks exclude?: Systemic exclusion of trans and gender nonconforming persons in post-Trump academic librarianship. *Reference Services Review*, 48(1), 159-181. doi:10.1108/RSR-10-2019-0072
- Walden University. (2015). Social change. Retrieved from https://www.waldenu.edu/about/social-change
- Walden University. (2017). 2016-2107 Walden University catalog. Minneapolis, MN: Walden University.
- Weinstock, J. S. (2019). Integrating lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer issues in the psychology curriculum. In. J. Mena & K. Quina (Eds.), *Integrating multiculturalism and intersectionality into the psychology curriculum: Strategies for instructors*. (pp. 75-87). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Wright, T., Roach, V., & Yukins, B. (2012). Is that all there is? GLBTQ adolescent support in the best of circumstances: One family's story. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 15(4), 105-114. doi:10.1177/1555458912470663
- Wright-Maley, C., Davis, T., Gonzalez, E. M., & Colwell, R. (2016). Considering perspectives on transgender inclusion in Canadian Catholic elementary schools:

 Perspectives, challenges, and opportunities. *The journal of Social Studies**Research, 40(3), 187-204. doi:10.1016/j.jssr.2015.12.001

Appendix: Individual Interview Question Guide

- 1. Were LGBTQ issues part of the social work curriculum you were taught in college?
 - a. Can you tell me a little about what you remember from social work school as it pertains to LGBTQ clientele?
 - b. If you could go back now, what do you think your college could have done to prepare you specifically to work with children who may identify as LGBTQ?
- 2. How many CEU trainings have you participated in related to, or discussing, LGBTQ issues in the last five years?
 - a. What did you learn that you did not previously know from one of the CEU trainings you attended?
- 3. What does heteronormativity mean to you?
 - a. Can you give an example?
- 4. What does heteronormativity mean as it relates to classroom and school environment?
 - a. Heteronormativity is defined as the privileged default of human sexual identity, and presumption of heterosexuality. An example of this would be like if someone would say to a young boy, "you are going to be some lucky woman's knight in shining armor one day." Presuming that everyone is heterosexual and anything else would be deemed "different" or not normal. Can you give an example of something you maybe have

seen, heard, or could imagine that might display heteronormativity at an elementary or middle school which might lead a young child to feel like heterosexuality is the norm?

- 5. Do you believe young children can accurately identify themselves as LGBTQ?
 - a. Can you elaborate on your choice?
- 6. What do you believe is the role of the school social worker in protecting and advocating for LGBTQ inclusive issues at an elementary or middle school setting?
 - a. Please describe which of these roles you feel are most important.
- 7. What is the role of the school social worker in challenging heteronormativity within the classroom setting?
 - a. Are there any examples you could share?
- 8. Do you believe that elementary and middle school policies and procedures are open and accepting of all students regardless of race, sexual orientation, gender identity, ethnicity, and ability?
 - a. Can you please provide examples of how they are or are not?
- 9. In your opinion, what are the biggest obstacles for LGBTQ students within the school setting?
 - a. Do any specific obstacles seem like they are more difficult to assist the child?
- 10. In your opinion, how does culturally competency look in regards to service provision to young LGBTQ children?

- a. Can you give an example?
- 11. What barriers do you see to providing culturally competent services to young LGBTQ children?
 - a. Which barriers are most challenging in your quest to support a student who may identify as LGBTQ?
- 12. What do you believe students and faculty can do to promote the health and well-being of LGBTQ children?
 - a. Have you seen any of these examples as more successful at your school?
 - b. What is one thing that you think would make an LGBTQ child feel welcome in an elementary or middle school setting?
- 13. Do you believe student's families or parents provide obstacles in providing culturally competent services to young children who may identify as an LGBTQ member?
 - a. Can you give an example?
- 14. Based on your opinion, how does discussion of LGBTQ issues within school lessons help challenge heteronormativity at school and in greater society?
 - a. Can you give an example?
- 15. In your view, is there a way an elementary or middle school setting could advance the educational policies regarding heteronormativity and LGBTQ issues?
 - a. What do you believe should be done to change or create a more open and accepting environment for all?